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THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS IMPORTANT AND  

REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION 

 

Investors are advised to read and understand the contents of this Information Memorandum prior 

subscribing for our shares. If in doubt, please seek independent advice from an appropriate 

professional advisor (or, if you are a person outside of Malaysia, otherwise duly qualified in your 

jurisdiction) who specializes in the acquisition of shares and other securities. 

 

 

Glucosenz Sdn Bhd 

(Company No. 202001022908 (1379228-U)) 

 

Proposed issuance of up to Ringgit Malaysia Forty Million 

(MYR 40,000,000.00) Ordinary Shares of MYR 45.00 each at the issue 

price of MYR 45.00 per Ordinary Share 

 

 

The Directors of Glucosenz Sdn Bhd have seen and approved this Information Memorandum. 

They collectively and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the 

information contained in this Information Memorandum. Having made all reasonable 

enquiries, and to the best of their knowledge and belief, they confirm that there are no false 

or misleading statements or other facts, the omission of which would make any statement in 

this Information Memorandum false or misleading. 

 

Neither the Securities Commission nor Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad nor any other 

Malaysian Government agency has examined or approved the contents of this document. The 

Ordinary Shares are not intended to be listed and no application has been made or is being 

made for the Ordinary Shares to be admitted to any exchange. 

 

The distribution of this Information Memorandum in jurisdictions other than Malaysia may 

be restricted by law and therefore persons into whose possession this document comes should 

inform themselves about and observe such restrictions. Any failure to comply with any such 

restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities laws of such jurisdictions. Your 

attention is drawn to the information contained in this Information Memorandum under the 

heading “Important Notice”. 

 

THE INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS NOT A PROSPECTUS AND HAS NOT BEEN 

REGISTERED NOR WILL IT BE REGISTERED AS A PROSPECTUS UNDER THE 

CAPITAL MARKETS AND SERVICES ACT, 2007, AS AMENDED FROM TIME TO TIME 

("CMSA"). AT ISSUANCE, THE ORDINARY SHARES MAY ONLY BE OFFERED, SOLD, 

TRANSFERRED OR OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO A 

PERSON TO WHOM AN OFFER OR INVITATION TO SUBSCRIBE THE ORDINARY 

SHARES AND TO WHOM THE ORDINARY SHARES ARE ISSUED WOULD FALL 

WITHIN SCHEDULE 6 AND SCHEDULE 7 OF THE CMSA. THEREAFTER, THE 

ORDINARY SHARES MAY ONLY BE OFFERED, SOLD, TRANSFERRED OR 

OTHERWISE DISPOSED OF DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY TO A PERSON TO WHOM AN 

OFFER OR INVITATION TO PURCHASE THE ORDINARY SHARES WOULD FALL 

WITHIN OF SCHEDULE 6 (OR SECTION 229(1)(b)) OF THE CMSA OR SCHEDULE 7 OR 

SECTION 230(1)(B) OF THE CMSA. 

 

THIS INFORMATION MEMORANDUM IS DATED 9 OCTOBER 2020 
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IMPORTANT NOTICE 

 

The information below is for general guidance only and it is the responsibility of any person or 

persons in possession of this document and wishing to make an application for the Ordinary 

Shares to inform themselves of, and to observe, all applicable laws and regulations of any 

relevant jurisdiction. 

 

The Information Memorandum is strictly confidential and is intended exclusively for the parties to 

whom it has been distributed of this Information Memorandum. The person receiving this 

Information Memorandum from the Issuer and its respective agents is prohibited from disclosing the 

Information Memorandum, altering the contents in whole or in part reproduced or used for any other 

purpose, or shown, given, copied to or filed or electronics means with any other person including, 

without limitation, any government authority except with the prior written consent of Issuer or as 

required under Malaysian Laws, regulation and guidelines. 

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor should not treat the contents of this document as advice 

relating to legal, taxation, investment or any other matters. Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor 

should inform themselves as to: 

 

(a) the legal requirements within their own countries for the subscription, purchase, holding, 

transfer or other disposal of redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares; 

(b) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable to the subscription, purchase, holding, 

transfer or other disposal of redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares which 

they might encounter; and 

(c) the income and other tax consequences which may apply in their own countries as a result 

of the subscription, purchase, holding, transfer, or other disposal of redeemable 

convertible cumulative preference shares. 

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor must rely upon their own representatives, including their 

own legal advisers and accountants, as to legal, tax, investment or any other related matters 

concerning the Company and an investment therein. Statements made in this document are based 

on the law and practice currently in force in Malaysia and are subject to changes therein. This 

document should be read in its entirety. All shareholders of the Company are entitled to the 

benefit of and are bound by and are deemed to have notice of, the provisions of the articles of 

association of the Company. 

 

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT 

 

To the best knowledge and belief of the directors of the Issuer, this Information Memorandum 

constitutes a full and true disclosure of all material facts about the Issuer.  Nevertheless, whilst the 

directors of the Issuer have taken responsible care and diligence in preparing this Information 

Memorandum, neither its directors nor any of its employees shall be liable in any manner whatsoever 

for any omission of material facts which would make any statement herein misleading. 

 

INFORMATION NOTICE AND STATEMENTS OF DISCLAIMER 

 

The director of the Issuer and relevant stakeholders have made all reasonable inquiries in the 

circumstances  to ascertain the  origin of the information or data contained in this Information 

Memorandum by relying on sources deemed to be reliable including but not limited to the Issuer 

and the advisers, and to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, there are no false or 

misleading statements or other material facts, the omission  of which would  make any  statement  

in this  Information  Memorandum false  or misleading. 
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Much of the information represents current best estimates based upon available data and as such 

is subject to interpretation, judgement, future change and price uncertainty. Except where 

otherwise stated herein, the information contained in the Information Memorandum has been 

provided by the Issuer. The stakeholder advisers have not independently verified any of the 

information or data and no representation or warranty, express or implied, is given or assumed 

by the Director of the Issuer or any of their stakeholder advisers as to the authenticity, origin, 

validity, accuracy or completeness of such information and data or that the information or data 

remains unchanged in any respect after the relevant date shown in this Information 

Memorandum. 

 

This Information Memorandum may not, in whole or in part, be reproduced or used for any other 

purpose, or shown, given, copied to or filed with any other person including without limitation, 

any government or regulatory authority except with the prior written consent of the Issuer or as 

required under Malaysian laws, regulations or guidelines. 

 

By accepting delivery of this Information Memorandum, each Prospective Ordinary Shares 

Investor agrees to the terms upon which this Information Memorandum is provided to such 

prospective Ordinary Shares Investor as set out in this Information Memorandum, and further 

agrees and confirms that: 

 

(a) it will keep confidential all such information and data; 

(b) it shall not circulate or dispatch this Information Memorandum or any such information, 

documents, or material in relation to the Ordinary Shares to other persons not authorized 

to receive such information; 

(c) it is lawful for the prospective Ordinary Shares Investor to purchase the Ordinary Shares 

under all jurisdictions to which the prospective Ordinary Shares Investor is subject; 

(d) the prospective Ordinary Shares Investor will comply with all applicable laws in 

connection with the purchase of the Ordinary Shares; 

(e) the Issuer and their respective directors, officers, employees and professional advisers 

are not and will not be in breach of the laws of any jurisdiction to which the prospective 

Ordinary Shares Investor is subject as a result of such purchase of the Ordinary Shares, 

and they shall not have any responsibility or liability in the event that the purchase of the 

Ordinary Shares is or shall become unlawful, unenforceable, voidable or void; 

(f) it is aware that the Ordinary Shares can only be offered, sold, transferred or otherwise 

disposed of directly in accordance with the relevant selling restrictions and all applicable 

laws; 

(g) it has sufficient knowledge and experience in financial and business matters to be capable 

of evaluating the merits and risks of purchasing the Ordinary Shares, and is able and is 

prepared to bear the economic and financial risks of investing in or holding the Ordinary 

Shares; 

(h) it is accepting the Ordinary Shares for its own account and out of own volition; and 

(i) it is a person to whom an issue, offer or invitation to subscribe for or purchase the 

Ordinary Shares would fall under Schedule 6 or Section 229(1)(b) or Schedule 7 or 

Section 230(1)(b) of the CMSA at issuance and Schedule 6 or Section 229(1)(b) or 

Schedule 7 or Section 230(1)(b) of the CMSA thereafter. 

 

Each prospective Ordinary Shares Investor is solely responsible for seeking all appropriate 

expert advice as to the laws of all jurisdictions to which it is subject and it shall return this 

Information Memorandum whether in whole or in part and any other information in connection 

therewith to the Issuer promptly upon request. 
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No application is being made to list the Ordinary Shares on any stock exchange, nor is any such 

application contemplated. This Information Memorandum is not intended to provide the basis 

of any credit or other evaluation and is not and should not be construed or considered as a 

recommendation, inducement or offer by the Issuer or any other party to subscribe for, purchase 

or invest in the Ordinary Shares and accordingly Ordinary Shares Investors are solely 

responsible for determining the relevance of the information contained in this Information 

Memorandum and the necessity for additional investment review. 

 

This Information Memorandum is not a substitute for, and should not be regarded as, an 

independent evaluation and analysis, and does not purport to be all-inclusive. Each Ordinary 

Shares Investor in the Ordinary Shares should determine for itself the relevance of the 

information contained in this Information Memorandum and its investment should be, and shall 

be deemed to be, based upon such investigation, as it deems necessary. 

 

Each prospective Ordinary Shares Investor should perform and is deemed to have made its own 

independent investigation and analysis of the Issuer, the Ordinary Shares and all other relevant 

matters and each prospective Ordinary Shares Investor should consult its own professional 

advisers. The decision of the prospective Ordinary Shares Investors to participate in the Ordinary 

Shares shall be based solely upon such independent investigation and evaluations of the Issuer 

as the prospective Ordinary Shares Investors deem necessary. 

 

This Information Memorandum contains selected information concerning the Issuer and the 

Ordinary Shares and must not be presumed to constitute a complete description of the Issuer or 

the Ordinary Shares.  

 

This Information Memorandum has not been and will not be made to comply with the laws of 

any country (including its territories , all jurisdictions within that country and any possession 

areas subject to its jurisdiction), other than Malaysia (a "Foreign Jurisdiction"), and has not been 

and will not be lodged, registered or approved pursuant to or under any legislation of or with or 

by any regulatory authorities or other relevant bodies of any Foreign Jurisdiction and it does not 

constitute an issue or offer of, or an invitation to apply, purchase or subscribe for the Ordinary 

Shares or any other securities of any kind by any party in any Foreign Jurisdiction. 

 

The distribution or possession of this Information Memorandum in or from certain jurisdictions 

may be restricted or prohibited by law. Each prospective Ordinary Shares Investor is required 

by the Issuer and the stakeholder advisers to seek appropriate professional advice relating to, 

and observe, any such restriction or prohibition. Neither the Issuer nor the stakeholder advisers 

accept any responsibility or liabilities to any person in relation to the distribution or possession 

of this Information Memorandum in or from any such jurisdiction. 

 

This Information Memorandum is not and is not intended to be a Prospectus. Unless otherwise 

specified in this Information Memorandum, the information contained in this Information 

Memorandum is current as at the date hereof. 
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In considering the purchase of the Ordinary Shares as an investment, no person is authorized to 

directly or indirectly copy or give this Information Memorandum or give any information or 

data, or to make any representation or warranty to any other person. If given or made, any such 

information, data, representation or warranty must not be relied upon as having been authorized 

by the Issuer or any other person. No offering literature in any form may be used in connection 

with this offering except as set forth in this Information Memorandum. 

 

Neither the delivery of this Information Memorandum nor the offering, sale or delivery of any 

Ordinary Shares shall in any circumstance create any implication that there has been any adverse 

change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse change in the condition (financial 

or otherwise) of the Issuer since the date of this Information Memorandum. Each Ordinary 

Shares will carry risks and all prospective Ordinary Shares Investors are strongly encouraged to 

evaluate each Ordinary Shares on its own merit. 

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investors should rely on their own evaluation to assess the merits 

and risks of the investment in the Ordinary Shares. It is recommended that prospective Ordinary 

Shares Investors consult their financial, legal and other advisers before purchasing or acquiring 

or subscribing for the Ordinary Shares. 

 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

 

This Information Memorandum contains forward-looking statements. These relate to the 

Directors' current views with respect to the Company's future prospects, development and 

strategies. Forward- looking statements are identified by their use of terms and phrases such as 

"believe", "could", "envisage", "estimate", "intend", "may", "plan", "will" or the negative of 

those, variations or comparable expressions, including references to assumptions. Such forward 

looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual 

results, performance or achievement of the Company, or industry results, to be materially 

different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such 

forward looking statements. Such risks and other factors include, among others, changes in the 

credit markets, changes in interest rates, legislative and regulatory changes, changes in taxation 

regimes and general economic and business conditions, particularly in Malaysia. These forward-

looking statements speak only as at the date of the Information Memorandum. Subject to its 

legal and regulatory obligations, the Company expressly disclaims any obligations to update or 

revise any forward-looking statement contained herein to reflect any change in expectations with 

regard thereto or any change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any statement is 

based. Prospective investors should specifically consider the factors identified in this 

Information Memorandum which could cause actual results to differ before making an 

investment decision. 

 

TERMS OF OFFER 

 

The information below is for general guidance only and it is the responsibility of any person or 

persons in possession of this document and wishing to make an application for the Ordinary 

Shares to inform themselves of, and to observe, all applicable laws and regulations of any 

relevant jurisdiction. 
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The Information Memorandum is strictly confidential and is intended exclusively for the parties to 

whom it has been distributed of this Information Memorandum. The person receiving this 

Information Memorandum from the Issuer and its respective agents is prohibited from disclosing the 

Information Memorandum, altering the contents in whole or in part reproduced or used for any other 

purpose, or shown, given, copied to or filed or electronics means with any other person including, 

without limitation, any government authority except with the prior written consent of Issuer or as 

required under Malaysian Laws, regulation and guidelines. 

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor should not treat the contents of this document as advice 

relating to legal, taxation, investment or any other matters. Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor 

should inform themselves as to: 

 

(a) the legal requirements within their own countries for the subscription, purchase, holding, 

transfer or other disposal of redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares; 

(b) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable to the subscription, purchase, holding, 

transfer or other disposal of redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares which 

they might encounter; and 

(c) the income and other tax consequences which may apply in their own countries as a result 

of the subscription, purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of redeemable 

convertible cumulative preference shares. 

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor must rely upon their own representatives, including their 

own legal advisers and accountants, as to legal, tax, investment or any other related matters 

concerning the Company and an investment therein. Statements made in this document are based 

on the law and practice currently in force in Malaysia and are subject to changes therein. This 

document should be read in its entirety. All shareholders of the Company are entitled to the 

benefit of and are bound by and are deemed to have notice of, the provisions of the articles of 

association of the Company. 

 

 

 

(The rest of this page has been intentionally left blank) 
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1 CAPITAL STRUCTURE 

 

 Shares 

Number of Ordinary Shares available under the Offer 888,900 

Offer Price for each equivalent Share MYR 45.00 

Gross proceeds from the Offer MYR 40,000,000 

Total number of Shares on issue at Completion of the Offer  8,889,000 

Indicative market capitalization at Completion of the Offer MYR 400,000,000 

 

2 CORPORATE DIRECTORY 

 

Company 

Secretary 

: Arris Management Services Sdn Bhd (607434-P) 

Wisma Chew and Co 

Suite 39.1.6, Jalan Kenari 17C,  

Bandar Puchong Jaya, 

47100 Puchong, Selangor,  

Malaysia 

 

Registered Office 

 

: Suite 39.1.6, Jalan Kenari 17C,  

Bandar Puchong Jaya,  

47100 Puchong, Selangor,  

Malaysia. 

 

Principal Place of 

Business 

 

: Block C, UKM-MTDC, Smart Technology Centre II, 

Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 Bangi, Selangor, 

Malaysia. 

  
 

 

 

 

(The rest of this page has been intentionally left blank) 
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3 COMPANY OVERVIEW 

 

3.1 Corporate History 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Glucosenz Sdn Bhd (the “Company”) is newly incorporated in Malaysia on 11 August 2020 under 

the Companies Act 2016 as a private limited company. The Company was set up for the sole 

purpose of further developing a non-invasive blood glucose monitor, the Glucosenz, which is 

designed to help people with diabetes obtain blood glucose level readings without the pain, 

inconvenience, cost, and difficulty of conventional (invasive) spot finger stick devices. We will 

devote substantially all of our efforts establishing a new business and while operations have 

commenced, we have generated no revenue from our limited operations.   

 

Non-invasive devices are the Holy Grail of the medical device industry and major players around the 

world are racing to be the first to introduce a non-invasive blood glucose monitor. Diabetes patients 

are rapidly increasing due to the more sedentary lifestyles of people today compared to 10 to 15 years 

ago. The gold mine however is in the vast volume of data that would be collected through these 

devices. The healthcare analytics market is expected to reach USD 50.5 billion by 2024 from USD 

14.0 billion in 2019 (Healthcare Analytics Market Report, Markets and Markets Research). The 

healthcare industry is driven by data which can come from many sources in the healthcare such as 

patient laboratory tests and procedures. A consumer's health record is a primary type of data source. 

Glucosenz will be positioned to collect diversified samples of data nationwide. 

 

Glucosenz was first developed under OSA Technology Sdn Bhd (“OSA”) operated by the founder 

of Glucosenz Sdn Bhd, in collaboration with MIMOS Bhd (“MIMOS”), a strategic agency under the 

Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation (“MOSTI”) of Malaysia. Glucosenz is the future of 

blood glucose screening that will replace the conventional method of blood glucose testing via 

pricking of finger to draw blood. It requires non-intrusive mechanism for blood drawing and will 

have no reagent for blood analysis.  

 

Both OSA and MIMOS have obtained the skillset and expertise in-house and have the ability to 

further improve the system and to custom-make the device for future potential products while 

maintaining the current system. Glucosenz is a highly sustainable product as the development 

potential is huge and unlimited. Taking into account the market direction of medical device towards 

wearable personal devices, Glucosenz is also envisioned to evolve from the current benchtop model 

to a portable model and ultimately towards a wearable model. 

 

OSA has been identified by the Ministry of Trade and Industry (“MITI”) of Malaysia as a major 

player in the medical device industry and is chosen as one of the High Impact Program 5 (“HIP5”) 

Company by SME Corporation Malaysia (“SME Corp”). OSA has also been a major supplier to the 

Government Hospitals nationwide where OSA’s Orthopaedic Implant products have been listed in 

the Approved Product Purchase List (“APPL”) since 2008.  

 

Axuda Berhad 

(100%) 

Glucosenz Sdn Bhd 
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OSA’s currently active certifications and registrations are as follows: 

 

 

OSA has successfully developed working prototypes of Glucosenz and completed Stage 2 clinical 

trials at Hospital University Kebangsaan Malaysia (HUKM).  

 

The past and future development milestones of Glucosenz are shown below: 

 

 
 

Glucosenz Sdn Bhd will acquire the patent of Glucosenz from OSA continue to develop and 

commercialize the device. 

 

 

  

2013 - 2020

Prototype 
Development

• 5 working prototypes 
has been developed. 
Development of the 
technology started in 
2013. 

• Funded by Tehnofund
and Smartfund (MOSTI)

• Completed Clinical Trial 
of 1,000 sample data in 
HUKM.

•Product Registration with 
Medical Device 
Authority (MDA), CAB, 
SIRIM, etc

2020-2021

Product Refinement 
& Manufacturing 

Planning

• IP disclosure and filing 
at MyIPO Malaysia.

• MDA Product 
Notification -
preliminary to product 
registration.

• Technical File for CAB 
certification.

• Field Test upon 
finalization of algorithm.

• Strategic 
commercialisation plan 
to bring product to 
market.

2021

Commercial Product 
Launch & Deployment

• Launch of Glucosenz
Benchtop  

• Streamline and 
coordinate marketing 
efforts to introduce 
Glucosenz to the world.

ISO 13485
Good Manufacturing 

Practice (GMP) 
Certification

European CE 
Marking 

Certification

Voluntary Medical 
Device 

Establishment 
Registration 
(MeDVER)

Medical Device 
Authority ("MDA") 

of Malaysia

MOF Bumiputera 
Company 

Registration

Halal Jakim (in-
process)



  

Page | 11  

3.2 Product Overview 

 

 

 
Glucosenz Benchtop Model 

 

 

Glucosenz Sdn Bhd is the Malaysian company responsible for the continuing development of 

the Non-Invasive Blood Glucose Monitoring Device (Glucosenz) which is greatly believed to 

be the world’s game changer. Though the world’s Medical Devices Industry has come a long way, 

it is still relatively new and a ‘blue ocean’ industry in our region. There are a lot of areas to cover and 

potential to reap as the global market size is at an estimated USD 250 billion.  

 

Glucosenz is the future of blood glucose screening that will replace the conventional method of blood 

glucose testing via pricking of finger to draw blood. It requires no intrusive mechanism for blood 

drawing and will have no reagent for blood analysis. Its main use will be for an early non-invasive 

glucose level screening (from normal to hyperglycemias), such as in clinics and hospitals, to detect, 

analyze and calculate blood glucose level from the blood capillaries of the human thumb without 

piercing the skin. 

 

The device applies chemometrics methods to analyse the near-infrared obtained in absorbance mode 

through the user’s thumb spectra. The product works simply by placing the thumb on the photonic 

reader where light will be projected for 30 seconds and the reflected light is then collected by a fiber-

optic probe that guides the light to a detector. The light spectrum is then analysed by a built-in 

software module. The blood glucose level result in mmol/l then appears on the LCD display.  

 

Results can also be downloaded to medical records or sent to the patient or physician via Bluetooth / 

Wi-Fi. Wireless data collection and dissemination capabilities are core components to facilitate 

remote monitoring by caregivers. It is the first device of its kind able to report blood glucose levels 

without any invasive blood draw or finger stick. 
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3.2.1 Unique Features 

 

▪ Non-Invasive 

o Requires no pricking nor drawing of blood 

▪ Uses no consumables 

o No blood test strip 

o No lancets 

o No alcohol wipes  

▪ Cost-effective 

▪ Hygienic 

▪ Pain-free 

▪ Fast and simple self-screening 

▪ High accuracy 

▪ Portable 

 

3.2.2 Glucosenz Versus Conventional Method 

 

Conventionally, blood glucose level is measured via drawing out a small amount of blood by pricking 

a finger with a lancet and using a strip to measure the blood sugar with the blood glucose monitor. 

This process requires: 

 

▪ Pricking and drawing out of blood 

▪ A trained health personnel 

▪ Multiple disposable items (consumables) 

▪ Blood glucose testing machine 

 

The average cost of consumables (strips, lancets, alcohol wipes) is about MYR 3.00 per test and 

assuming 150 patients are tested daily in a single public hospital over a 5-year period, the cost for 

consumables alone would be: 

 

Comparatively, there is great potential of cost benefit for Glucosenz as it requires only: 

Therefore, there is a potential cost savings (5-year period) of MYR 701,250 

 

  

150 patients x 365 days x MYR 3.00 / test  

x 5 years = MYR 821,250.00 

C
O

N
V

E
N

T
IO

N
A

L
 

A one-time investment of MYR 120,000.00 

or 

Apply lease facility from 3rd party financier for up to 5 

years (lifespan of 5 years) 

G
L

U
C

O
S

E
N

Z
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While glucose monitors and strips were once a very profitable business, the market contraction has 

resulted in less research, reduced sales forces and more intense price competition among the 

established companies. Given the declining costs of strips, it is likely that the decreased profitability 

of the company’s manufacturing and trading in the consumables, will experience challenges in 

getting new ideas to gain support and funding, at least until such a technology is viewed as a threat 

to ongoing business or an irresistible opportunity for market share expansion. Either situation would 

require a much more well developed technology than has appeared, to date.  

 

The burden of diabetes management has become a major concern, with high socio-economic costs 

and implications across Asia Pacific. With diabetes on the rise, self-monitoring with blood glucose 

meters and strips have become an increasingly important aspect of diabetes management in Asia 

Pacific, specifically, and the world, generally. Early screening and diagnosis are the key to managing 

the diabetes pandemic.  

 

The healthcare industry is driven by data which can come from many sources in healthcare facilities 

such as patient laboratory tests, screenings, and procedures. A consumer's health record is a primary 

type of data source and Glucosenz will be positioned to collect a diversified sample of data 

nationwide. 

 

3.2.3 Product Technology 

 

The eventual Glucosenz platform consists of The Four Pillar of Technologies that enables the device 

to be at the forefront of screening device for diabetes. 

 

Advanced Photonics 

 

Glucosenz is able to gauge human glucose content through non-intrusive method utilizing the non-

intrusive near spectroscopic field infrared and intelligent deep learning algorithm to measure the 

glucose level. It is classified as a new and novel technology as currently, the market glucose sensor 

is dominantly utilizing the conventional intrusive method. 

 

The Advanced Photonics technology used to develop Glucosenz:  

 

▪ Can be replicated to detect other diseases from haematology perspective such as  jaundice, 

dengue, etc. The possibility is endless with adequate research and development support and 

funding. 

  

▪ Can be combined with other technologies to determine other health parameters, i.e. to detect / 

monitor body temperature, SpO2 levels, heart rate and blood pressure in a single device. 

 

▪ Has huge potential to be developed into smaller portable or wearable devices in line with the 

development of medical device industry. 

 

Internet of Things (IoT) 

 

Glucosenz will create a real-time remote IoT-based continuous glucose monitoring system. The 

implemented IoT-based architecture is a complete system starting from biosensor to a back-end 

server.  

 

Through the system, doctors and caregivers can easily monitor their patient anytime, anywhere via a 

browser or a smart-phone application. Sensor nodes of the system are able to obtain several types of 
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data (i.e. glucose, body temperature, and environmental data) and transmit the data wirelessly to the 

gateway efficiently.  

 

The patient’s smart phone becomes a gateway for receiving data from biosensor. In addition, the 

gateway with its application provides advanced services to users, such as a notification service. The 

results showed that it is feasible to remote monitor glucose level in real-time. 

 

Artificial Intelligence (AI) 

 

AI deep learning capabilities of Glucosenz would enable faster evolution of from benchtop model to 

portable and wearable devices. As more data is collected and the accuracy of the algorithm is 

increased, the product design can be further miniaturized to meet the demands of the market for 

smaller and wearable devices. 

 

Blockchain 

 

Blockchain can be leveraged to keep permanent records of the development, design, production and 

distribution of medical devices as well as all of the parts from suppliers. Once the information is 

submitted to a blockchain it cannot be changed, resulting in permanent traceability for every device.  

 

Through blockchain applications it is possible for machines to share their operating data with those 

responsible for maintaining it without violating compliance and privacy issues. Sensitive information, 

such as patients who have been treated with the device, types of procedures, and the images or other 

information can be shared with the maintainers but can be used for auditing, reporting and compliance. 

Blockchain can also keep service records that may be required depending on the device and its 

purpose. 

 

A recent survey done at Humanity+, a nonprofit that advocates for ethical use of technology, showed 

that, of the attendees at their online event, 61% were not comfortable with governments collecting 

their physiological and medical data, even in a pandemic context. But 92% would rather their medical 

data be stored on a blockchain, than centralized government databases.  

 

3.2.4 Smart Data Management 

 

Glucosenz will be built into a wearable model, acting as a real-time remote IoT-based continuous 

glucose monitoring system. The implemented IoT-based architecture (which currently is available in 

the benchtop model, though collecting data only when the patient is tested) is a complete system 

starting from biosensor to a back-end server. Through the system, doctors and caregivers can easily 

monitor their patient anytime, anywhere via a browser or a smart-phone application. Sensor nodes of 

the system are able to obtain several types of data (i.e. glucose, body temperature, and environmental 

data) and transmit the data wirelessly to the gateway efficiently.  

 

The patient’s smart phone becomes a gateway for receiving data from biosensor. In addition, the 

gateway with its application provides advanced services to users, such as a notification service. IoT 

describes all medical devices connected to a healthcare provider’s computer system through the 

internet. These devices can generate, collect, analyze and transmit healthcare data. 

 

Connected devices enabled by the IoT can improve diagnoses while allowing data collection for 

analytics. According to a Frost & Sullivan study, almost 60% of healthcare providers are utilizing 

IoT devices – and they’re reporting improved patient care. 
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Some benefits of IoT in Healthcare: 

 

▪ Objective Reporting – A machine that records and reports actual data is much more reliable than 

a patient’s subjective self-reporting. 

▪ Remote Monitoring – Doctor and patients can review test results in real time 

▪ Automation – Decrease human error and fraudulent reporting. 

▪ Ease of access – Able to upload and download data within seconds. 

▪ Multiple Services - Life-style health coach via mobile applications 

▪ Analytics - Provide analytics to policymaker and relevant healthcare agencies 

▪ AI learning - AI deep learning capabilities  

 

This type of technology is not only helping to improve the patient experience by eliminating the need 

for in-person medical visits, but it is also helping to reduce costs. Goldman Sachs estimates that IoT 

will save the healthcare industry $300 billion annually in expenditures primarily through remote 

patient monitoring and improved medication adherence.  

 

The global IoT market was valued at $44.5 billion in 2018 and is expected to grow to $254.2 

billion in 2026, according to AllTheResearch. The smart wearable device segment of IoT, inclusive 

of smartwatches and sensor-laden smart shirts, made up for the largest share of the global market in 

2018, at roughly 27 percent, the report finds. This area of IoT is poised for even further growth as 

artificial intelligence is integrated into connected devices and can prove capable of the real-time, 

remote measurement and analysis of patient data. 

 

The capabilities of IoT are more accurate diagnoses, fewer mistakes and lower costs of care. Paired 

with smartphone applications, the technology allows patients to send their health information to 

doctors in order to better monitor diseases and track and prevent chronic illnesses. There are currently 

a number of laws and codes of conduct governing the use and management of personal data, including 

medical records such as the Malaysian Personal Data Protection Act 2010, the Malaysian Medical 

Council's guidelines on patient-doctor confidentiality and its Code of Professional Conduct. 

 

The medical industry collects a huge amount of data but often it is siloed in archives controlled by 

hospitals, clinics, and administrative departments. Done properly, this system has the potential to 

reduce the cost of healthcare, cut down on wasteful overheads and optimise the use of limited 

resources. It can be used to better understand and respond to epidemics, cure, and treat infectious 

diseases, avoid preventable deaths, and improve the general quality of life and well-being of 

Malaysians.  

 

Health data made accessible to third-party will have sensitive information relating to patients’ privacy 

and identities removed. De-identified data is used for research to derive information and knowledge 

about treatment and outcomes, as well as other patient care-related purposes. Outside of health care 

organizations and researchers, de-identified patient data is used by a variety of organizations and 

industries for various purposes, including many not related to patient care. De-identified data is 

sourced, collected, and used by a variety of organizations, including health care provider 

organizations such as hospitals or academic medical centres, and commercial enterprises such as 

personal genomics and biotechnology companies. Pharmaceutical manufacturers and retail 

pharmacies may also find use in de-identified health data to target their advertising. Healthcare 

providers use this data typically in research or the direct care of patient populations. The data can 

also be used to help reduce costs of care, improve treatment options, and support public health 

initiatives. The Company will ensure that any data shared for the above purposes will be executed 

legally and ethically.    

https://internetofthingsagenda.techtarget.com/blog/IoT-Agenda/IoMT-A-pulse-on-the-internet-of-medical-things
https://www.alltheresearch.com/report/166/internet-of-medical-things-market
https://healthtechmagazine.net/article/2019/10/can-ai-help-patients-take-control-their-care-perfcon
https://healthtechmagazine.net/article/2019/10/can-ai-help-patients-take-control-their-care-perfcon
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3.2.5 Quality 

 

Glucosenz had passed SIRIM tests:  

 

▪ SIRIM MS IEC 60601-1:2006 : Basic electrical safety 

▪ SIRIM IEC60601-1-2:2007-03 : Medical Electrical Equipment (Electromagnetic compatibility)  

▪ SIRIM ISO 10993-5:2009 : Biological evaluation of medical devices (Part 5, Test for in-vitro 

cytotoxicity)  

 

 

Glucosenz had undergone Preclinical Evaluation in 

University Putra Malaysia and Cyberjaya University 

College of Medical Science. 

  

Ethics and Clinical Evaluation were successfully 

carried out in both Hospital University Kebangsaan 

Malaysia (HUKM) and Hospital Wanita dan Kanak-

Kanak Naluri. 

 

MDA has approved Glucosenz to be used in 

conducting Beta Testing or Clinical Trials in real life 

hospital environments. We are currently in the 

process of completing the registration of Glucosenz 

as a Medical Device with MDA. 

 

The Company will also apply European CE marking 

certification for the Glucosenz device. The letters 'CE' 

appear on many products traded on the extended Single 

Market in the European Economic Area (EEA). They 

signify that products sold in the EEA have been 

assessed to meet high safety, health, quality, and 

environmental protection requirements.  

 

CE marking is only obligatory for products which EU 

specifications exist and require the affixing of CE 

marking. Some products are subject to 

several EU requirements at the same time.  

  

Preclinical 
Evaluation

Ethics and 
Clinical 

Evaluation

E & E 
Certification

MDA 
Certification



  

Page | 17  

3.2. Intellectual Property  

 

We believe that intellectual property is important to our business in the medical device industry. We 

rely on a combination of patent, copyright and other intellectual property laws, trade secrets, 

nondisclosure agreements and other measures to protect our intellectual property and proprietary 

rights. We understand the importance of obtaining patent and trade secret protection for new 

technologies, products, and processes. Our success will depend in large part on our ability to file for 

and obtain patent protection of our principal products and procedures, to defend existing or future 

patents, to maintain trade secrets and to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of 

others.  

 

We have obtained an issued patent (PI 2020004360) in Malaysia in 2020. Additional patent 

applications are pending in various stages of review. Trademark for Glucosenz has been filed in 

Malaysia (TM 2019025023) and the Company will continue the patent and trademark applications 

for Glucosenz in other countries. 

 

Patent protection is highly uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions and issues. 

The patent application and issuance process can be expected to take several years and entail 

considerable expense. There can be no assurance that patents will issue as a result of any applications 

or that our existing patents, or any patents resulting from such applications, will be sufficiently broad 

to afford protection against competitors with similar or competing technology. Patents that we obtain 

may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, or the rights granted under such patents may not 

provide us with any competitive advantages.  

 

We believe that our patents and products do not and will not infringe patents or violate proprietary 

rights of others, although it is possible that our existing patent rights may not be valid or that 

infringement of existing or future patents or proprietary rights may occur. Litigation may be 

necessary to defend or enforce our patent rights or to determine the scope and validity of the 

proprietary rights of others.  

 

Defense and enforcement of patent claims can be expensive and time consuming, even in those 

instances in which the outcome is favorable and could result in the diversion of substantial resources 

and management time and attention from our other activities. An adverse outcome could subject us 

to significant liability to third parties, require us to obtain licenses from third parties, alter our 

products or processes, or require that we cease altogether any related research and development 

activities or product sales.  

 

We are currently pursuing further patents covering the technologies related to Glucosenz particular 

measurements, as well as the combination of the four technologies used by Glucosenz. A provisional 

patent has recently been filed and final applications will be made later.  
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3.3 Business Strategy  

 

Since inception we have devoted substantially all of our efforts establishing a new business and while 

operations have commenced, we have generated no revenue from our limited operations. We intend 

to lead in the discovery, development and commercialization of innovative and targeted diagnostic 

medical devices that improve disease monitoring, management, and overall patient care. We plan to 

take the following steps to implement our strategy: 

 

▪ Develop our own specialty sales and marketing teams to market the Glucosenz Benchtop model 

in the APAC region. We intend to develop specialty sales teams and / or enter into licensing 

agreements with established marketing companies for production and distribution of the product 

beginning in Malaysia and expanding all over the globe. 

 

▪ Expand the indications for which the Glucosenz may be used. We believe that the variation and 

innovation of Glucosenz offer other significant benefits other than those found in the non-acute 

setting for the monitoring of other diseases.   

 

▪ Expand our product pipeline through our proprietary platform technologies, acquisitions, and 

strategic licensing arrangements. We intend to leverage our proprietary platform technologies to 

grow our portfolio of product candidates for the diagnosis of diabetes and other diseases. In 

addition, we intend to license our product and acquire products and technologies that are 

consistent with our research and development and business focus and strategies.  

 

3.3.1 Manufacturing  

 

At present, we do not have commercial manufacturing facilities, but we have plans to set up or own 

manufacturing arm in near future. We also intend to enter into agreements with third-party 

manufacturers for the manufacture of several components of the glucose monitoring devices. These 

suppliers and their manufacturing facilities must comply with MDA regulations, current quality 

system regulations, which include current good manufacturing practices, and to the extent laboratory 

analysis is involved, current good laboratory practices. We will handle the assembly, prototypes 

development and testing, including for limited use in clinical testing, in the prototype laboratory. 

 

3.3.2 Sales & Marketing  

 

We do not have dedicated sales or marketing personnel yet, because neither the Glucosenz Benchtop 

model nor other Glucosenz devices are approved for commercial sale. In order to commercialize the 

Glucosenz, we will develop our own specialty sales and marketing teams to market the Glucosenz 

Benchtop model in the APAC region.  

 

We also intend to collaborate with third parties with established sales and marketing operations in 

the medical device industry to market and sell the Glucosenz to end users or for personal use. We 

should enter into licensing agreements with established marketing companies for production and 

distribution of the product beginning in Malaysia and expanding all over the globe. 

 

3.3.3 Government Regulatory  

 

Healthcare is heavily regulated in the Malaysia by federal, state and local governments and by similar 

authorities in other countries. Any product that we develop must receive all relevant regulatory 

approvals or clearances, as the case may be, before it may be marketed in a particular country. The 

laws and regulations affecting healthcare change regularly thereby increasing the uncertainty and risk 

associated with any healthcare-related venture.  
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The Malaysian government has in the past considered, is currently considering and may in the future 

consider healthcare policies and proposals intended to curb rising healthcare costs, including those 

that could significantly and adversely affect reimbursement for healthcare products such as 

Glucosenz devices.  

 

These policies have included and may in the future include:  

▪ basing reimbursement policies and rates on clinical outcomes, the comparative effectiveness and 

costs of different treatment technologies and modalities; 

▪ imposing price controls and taxes on medical device providers; and  

▪ other measures.  

 

3.4 Future Expansion 

 

3.4.1 Product Sustainability 

 

Being developed from ground up since the get-go, the Glucosenz Team have obtained the skillset 

and expertise in-house and have the ability to further improve the system and to custom-made the 

device for future potential products while maintaining the current system. Glucosenz is a highly 

sustainable product as the development potential is huge and unlimited. 

 

The Advanced Photonics technology used to develop Glucosenz:  

 

▪ Can be replicated to detect other diseases from haematology perspective such as jaundice, 

dengue, etc. The possibility is endless with adequate research and development support and 

funding 

  

▪ Can be combined with other technologies to determine other health parameters, i.e. to detect / 

monitor body temperature, SpO2 levels, heart rate and blood pressure in a single device. 

 

▪ Has huge potential to be developed into smaller portable or wearable devices in line with the 

development of medical device industry 

 

As “big data” (the computerized analysis of data aggregated from many sources) has advanced, an 

even more fundamental change has appeared - Integrated Diabetes Management (IDM). While much 

of health care has been historically focused on treatment of diseases, and has gradually moved to 

prevention of complications, effort is now shifting to “outcomes,” where the patient’s long-term 

health is paramount, and health care providers integrate approaches which reduce cost both now and 

from future effects of disease.  

 

Like every big data pursuit, what is needed is more information. The way that big data is obtained is 

through continuous glucose monitoring (CGM). It is therefore reasonable to predict that only 

continuous, “wearable” non-invasive monitors will have a real chance of being successful in the 

extended future. Any development of new technologies must therefore aim for a wearable model as 

the end goal. Additional applications for the CGM Watch may include: 

 

▪ Mobile Phone Application - with wireless data transmission from device 

▪ Development of a Web - server accessed by physicians and diabetic professionals to track the 

condition remotely thereby reducing healthcare costs and managing the condition more 

effectively  

▪ A complete virtual GP that monitors a person’s vital signs and transmits results via the web  
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3.4.2 Product Development and Evolution 

 

Taking into account the market direction of medical devices towards wearable personal devices, 

Glucosenz is also envisioned to evolve from the current benchtop model to a portable model and 

ultimately towards a wearable model. The timeline of evolution is greatly dependent on funding for 

the development and testing as the technology and expertise are already in place at MIMOS and OSA.  

 

Management has extensive experience in regulatory and clinical development of diagnostic medical 

devices. We intend to take advantage of our extensive clinical research and development experience 

in the field of diagnostic medical devices in an attempt to increase the probability of product approval. 

We believe that while the overall regulatory process for diagnostic medical devices for diabetes is 

currently similar to those governing other diagnostic devices, the development timelines may be 

significantly shorter. Whereas typical clinical trials involving pharmaceuticals must be monitored 

over long periods (often years), diagnostic medical devices for diabetes may take significantly less 

time to evaluate.  

 

This shortened clinical development time relative to pharmaceuticals is a function of the speed with 

which a diabetes diagnostic medical device can be tested and evaluated for its clinical output, in this 

case the accuracy with which it can trend blood glucose levels, which is in the order of several hours 

and days to see the end point, as compared to several months and years where drugs undergo clinical 

studies. Also, because the results of the absorption of glucose through the patch are instantaneous, 

the clinical trials do not initially require long term follow-up for primary endpoints that typically may 

take significant periods of time to evaluate.  

 

Accordingly, we believe our clinical trials may enroll quickly and that the evaluable data will be 

made available to us in similar fashion. When taken together, we believe our experience in the clinical 

development of diabetes diagnostic medical devices, familiarity with the regulatory approval process 

in Malaysia and shorter development time may allow for our first product to emerge onto the 

commercial markets within 6 months. As we continue to raise funds for marketing and further 

developing the device in, we will also collaborate with future licensees and marketing partners to 

achieve our product development and meet our projected milestones. 
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Target market Hospital / Healthcare Research Institute 

Target user Patient / Researcher 

Price per unit Approximately MYR 120,000 

Product position Lease to own, Outright Purchase 

Target sales per 

annum 

500 units 

Target market Hospital / Small health centre / personal 

Target user Patient / consumer 

Price per unit Approximately MYR 12,000 

Product position Lease to own, Outright purchase 

Target sales per 

annum 

18,000 units 

Target market Patient / consumer 

Target user Patient / consumer 

Price per unit Approximately MYR 1,200 

Product position End product, pay per use, in-app purchase 

Target sales per 

annum 

26,000 units 

Glucosenz Benchtop 

Glucosenz Portable 

 

Glucosenz Wearable 
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3.5 Revenue Model 

 

3.5.1 Pricing Strategy 

 

Given the acute price sensitivity in the medical device industry, Glucosenz will maintain 

competitiveness, to deliver exactly what the customer wants at the best possible price. Glucosenz will 

take the following actions: 

 

▪ Provide attention to the detailed design of the product 

▪ Look for opportunities to eliminate excess cost wherever possible 

▪ Gain the flexibility to sell profitably in cash-strapped traditional markets and price conscious new 

markets. 

 

A Design To Value (DTV) strategy would help to get costs under control and delivers exactly what 

customers value. Different stakeholder / customer-base would value different attributes of the product 

and identifying each stakeholders’ values’ is key to persuade in the decision making to purchase. 

 

 

 

For Glucosenz, the different stakeholders and their probable valued features are: 

 

Stakeholders       Features Valued 

Hospitals and Clinics ▪ Compliance to the prescribed testing methods 

▪ Reliable, accurate and robust 

▪ Affordable and cost effective in the long term  

▪ Able to collect, organise and analyse patient data 

▪ Able to share patient data between different users / departments 

 

Pharmacies ▪ Would maximize revenue 

▪ May favour the need for customers to continuously purchase 

consumables 

 

Patients/Caregivers ▪ Painless 

▪ Easy to use 

▪ Accurate and reliable 

▪ Affordable 

▪ Portable and / or wearable 

▪ Able to collect and store own historical data 

▪ Able to trigger alarm for immediate medical attention 

 

 

  

What exact product feature the 

customers need 

 
Identify the most cost effective ways 

to deliver the exact product feature 

How much are they willing to  

pay for it 

 
Maximize product profit margin 
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3.5.2 Product Pricing 

 

The pricing of Glucosenz is highly dependent on the cost of raw material especially the highly 

specialized and imported spectrometer. Costs of other raw materials are reasonably constant and may 

be sourced locally.                                       

 

3.5.3 Income Stream 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Glucosenz Benchtop 

 

 

 
         Mobile Health App 

 

 
           Cloud Database 

 

 

 

 

  

Outright Purchase

Leasing Arrangements 

Exclusive Rentals 

Video Advertisement 

Premium User Subscription

Apps Advertisement 

Healthcare Database
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3.6 Competition 

 

The market for blood glucose monitoring devices is intensely competitive, subject to rapid change 

and significantly affected by new product introductions. Three top players in the industry are mainly, 

Nemaura Medical Inc, Integrity Applications Inc, and Dexcom Inc. These competitors’ products 

range from tiny implants to non-invasive devices that measure blood glucose from the earlobe or the 

forearm. 

 

In addition, other companies are developing or marketing minimally invasive or noninvasive glucose 

testing devices and technologies that could compete with our devices. There are also a number of 

academic and other institutions involved in various phases of technology development regarding 

blood glucose monitoring devices. We believe that the majority of noninvasive blood glucose 

monitors in development monitor glucose via trend analysis, rather than spot or continuous 

measurement.  

 

Trend analysis devices do not provide specific glucose measurements, as do spot or continuous 

testing devices, rather they alert a patient that their blood glucose levels are increasing or decreasing, 

and require frequent calibrations (from a few hours to a few days, compared to the novel algorithm 

in Glucosenz has been designed to compensate variations due to molecular fingerprint of components 

between the skin and blood capillary. 

 

Accordingly, patients using such devices must also use conventional spot finger stick devices in order 

to determine optimal timing and dosage for corrective treatments such as insulin, whereas Glucosenz 

provides patients with noninvasive blood glucose measurements that can be used for this purpose 

without the need for trend analysis. Among the companies developing noninvasive glucose testing 

devices are RSP Systems- Glucobeam, Eser Tech- Eser GlucoGenius, Mediwise- GlucoWise, and 

Senseonics- Eversense.  

 

Other companies developing continuous measurement devices, based on minimally invasive methods, 

such as implants or subdermal needles include Medtronic, Inc., Abbot Laboratories and Dexcom, Inc. 

Some of our competitors are either publicly traded or are divisions of publicly-traded companies, and 

they enjoy several competitive advantages, including:  

 

▪ Significantly greater name recognition 

▪ Established relations with healthcare professionals, customers and third-party payors 

▪ Established distribution networks 

▪ Additional lines of products, and the ability to offer rebates or bundle products to offer higher 

discounts or incentives to gain a competitive advantage 

▪ Greater experience in conducting research and development, manufacturing, clinical trials, 

obtaining regulatory approval for products and marketing approved products 

▪ Greater financial and human resources for product development, sales and marketing, and patent 

litigation.  

 

Some of our other competitors also enjoy these competitive advantages. As a result, we cannot assure 

that we will be able to compete effectively against these companies or their products. 
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To our knowledge, a summary of potential competitors with non-invasive products is shown below: 

 
 

FreeStyle 

Libre™(1) 

Platinum 

G6®(2) 

Evesense™(3) SugarBEAT®
(4) 

Manufacturer Abbott Dexcom Senseonics Nemaura 

Medical 

Technology Inserted 

Sensor 

Inserted 

Sensor 

Implanted 

Sensor 

Non-invasive 

Sensor 

Target Subcutaneous, 

wired enzyme 

glucose 

sensing 

technology 

Beneath skin 

sensor 

Fluorescence Reverse 

iontophoresis 

Reliability (overall 

MARD) 

11.4% 9.8% 11.4% <12%* 

Reliability (Clarke Error 

Grid A+B zone) 

99% Not available 99.1% >95.0% 

Patients Studied 72 324 44 >75 

Patient Days Studied 14 10 90 1 - 4  

Warm-up Time 1 hour 2 hours NA 30 – 60 mins 

Daily Calibration none none 2x 1x 

Glucose Display 

Frequency 

Manual 

activation of 

sensor 

Every 5 mins Every 5 mins Every 5 mins 

Patch/Senor Life 14 days 10 days 90 days 1 day 

Regulatory Approvals EU US EU EU 

Basis for reimbursement Finger stick NA CGM Finger stick 

Daily Average 

Reimbursement Cost 

$2.50 

(Germany) 

NA NA $2.50** 

Daily Retail Cost UK 

(exc.VAT) 

£3.50 (Patch) 

£50 (Reader) 

NA NA £2** (Daily 

Patch) 

£30** 

(Transmitter) 

 

Source: Nemaura Medical Inc. Annual Report 2019 

(1) Diabetes Technology & Therapeutics, Timothy Bailey, MD, et al., Nov. 2015;  

(2) Dexcom’s press release, Mar. 2018; Dexcom G6 user’s guide  

(3) SenseonicsHoldings’ 8-K, Dec. 2015.  

(4)* based on summary data released in August 2018; **Estimated            
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4 INDUSTRY OVERVIEW   

 

4.1 Diabetes – Global 

 

According to the Diabetes Atlas of the International Diabetes Federation (the “IDF”), there are 

approximately 60 million people in the world who have diabetes as of December 2019. The IDF is 

predicting that by 2045 this will rise to 68 million people.  

 

In 2019, it is estimated that 4.2 million adults aged 20–79 years will die from diabetes, accounting 

for 11.3% of deaths from all causes. This is equivalent to eight deaths every minute. Almost half of 

these deaths (46.2%, 1.9 million) are estimated to occur in adults younger than 60 years. Statistics 

published by the IDF report that diabetes is a huge and growing problem, and the costs to society are 

high and escalating.  

 

Number of deaths attributable to diabetes in IDF Regions by age group 

 

 

AFR: Africa  

EUR: Europe 

MENA: Middle East North Africa 

NAC: North America and 

Caribbean 

SACA: South and Central America 

SEA: South-East Asia 

WP: Western Pacific 

IDF: International Diabetes 

Federation 

 

 

Source: IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition 

                                 

In 2019, the AFR Region had the highest estimate of the proportion of diabetes-related deaths under 

the age of 60 years (73.1%), while the EUR Region had the lowest (31.4%). As shown in the graph, 

except for the IDF AFR Region, the highest number of deaths attributable to diabetes within each 

Region was in adults aged 60 years and older. In the AFR Region the highest number of diabetes-

related deaths occurred in adults 30–39 years old. 

 

Number of deaths attributable to diabetes by age and sex in 2019 

 

 
 

Source: IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition 
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The number of deaths attributable to diabetes is higher in women (2.3 million) than in men (1.9 

million), with the highest number (1.2 million) in adults 60–69 years old. However, age and sex 

stratification of the estimates shows that the highest diabetes-related mortality in women is in the 70–

79 years age group (708,300), while in men is in the 60–69 years age group (523,700). In addition, 

between the ages of 30 and 59 years, there are a larger number of deaths attributable to diabetes 

among men than women. The top five countries for the number of people afflicted with diabetes in 

Europe are listed in the table below. 

 

Top five countries for number of people with diabetes (20–79 years), 2019 

 

 Millions 

Germany 9.5 

Russian Federation 8.3 

Turkey 6.6 

Italy 3.7 

Spain 3.6 

 

Source: IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition 

 

 

4.2 Diabetes – ASEAN 

 

Global healthcare expenditure to treat diabetics reached USD 727 Billion in 2017. The burden of 

diabetes management has become a major concern, with high socio-economic costs and implications 

across Asia Pacific. With diabetes on the rise, self-monitoring with blood glucose meters and strips 

have become an increasingly important aspect of diabetes management in Asia Pacific, specifically, 

and the world, generally. 

 

According to the WHO report (November 2017), the number of people with diabetes has risen from 

108 million in 1980 to 422 million in 2014. In 2017, there were 425 million diabetics in the world. 

By 2045, projections show this number rising to some 629 million diabetics globally. 

 

Currently, there are almost 138 million diabetics in the Western Pacific Region and by 2035, this will 

rise to 202 million (16% of Malaysians are diabetic). Due to the trends of rapid economic 

development and urbanization across Asia, the next several generations of Asians are especially at 

risk of developing diabetes.   

 

Recent studies show that Malaysia, India, Indonesia, China, Vietnam, and the Philippines will have 

the highest levels of new diabetes diagnoses over the next 20 years. Together, the countries of 

Southeast Asia have some of the highest rates of diabetes prevalence in the world. However, many 

of these cases remain undiagnosed. 
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Source: This Week in Asia, Death by sugar: 

Can Southeast Asia win the war on diabetes, 3 January 2019 

 

There are more than 450,000 Singaporeans with diabetes and the Ministry of Health projects this 

number will rise to 1 million in the next 30 years without intervention. The disease already costs the 

government more than USD1 billion annually. 

 

In Malaysia, where most citizens rely on public health care, the cost of diabetes is mounting. More 

than 3 million Malaysians have diabetes, and it is reported to spend 16 per cent of its health care 

budget on treating the disease. Malaysia is identified as the most sedentary nation in Southeast Asia. 

When presenting his 2019 budget last month, Malaysian Finance Minister announced the government 

would tax high-sugar beverages.  

 

Similarly, Thailand, one of the world’s leading producers of sugar implemented a tiered sugar tax in 

2017. However, this may not adequately address such a complex and expensive problem. In Indonesia, 

about 7 per cent of the population – more than 17 million people – have diabetes, according to the 

WHO. That number is expected to grow and there is no major national diabetes prevention strategy. 

 

In Indonesia, about 96 million of its more than 670 million population – or one in every 14 people – 

have diabetes, and almost all of them have type 2 diabetes, which is in many cases preventable. The 

International Diabetes Federation reports that just 47 per cent of diabetes patients in Indonesia are 

diagnosed, compared to 72 per cent in Mexico, and a 2014 study at Indonesia’s National Institute of 

Health Research and Development found undiagnosed diabetes was nearly twice as prevalent as 

diagnosed in the working age population. This means millions of young Indonesians are living with 

diabetes, many of them untreated. The World Economic Forum estimates non-communicable 

diseases such as diabetes and heart disease will cost Indonesia USD2.8 trillion from 2012-30, more 

than 100 times the nation’s total health spending in 2014. 
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Almost 200 million of the world’s 370 million people diagnosed with diabetes live in Asia. Indonesia 

is among the top 10 nations with the most diabetics. In addition, Vietnam, Malaysia and the 

Philippines are forecast to have increasingly high levels of new diabetes diagnoses over the next two 

decades. Recent research suggests Southeast Asians are more genetically predisposed to type II 

diabetes. Half of the global elderly population lives in Asia and that share will rise to more than 60% 

by 2050. In Southeast Asia, the percentages of people over age 65 would be quadruple by 2050. 

 

The ASEAN countries have a combined population of more than 620 million; nearly double that of 

the United States and more than 100 million higher than that of the EU. Topping USD2.3 trillion, 

their combined GDP is equal to around one-quarter that of China. The region saw GDP growth of 

about 6% in 2019, compared with negative growth in the EU and approximately 2% growth in the 

United States. Growing prosperity mean more healthcare spending, leading to growth in the region’s 

medical device market. Valued at more than USD4.5 billion in 2013, the region’s medical device 

market was projected to reach USD8 billion by 2017, led by Thailand, Indonesia, and Malaysia. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Thailand Indonesia Singapore Philippines Vietnam 

- Population 

67 million 

- 850 Public 

hospitals 
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device 
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- 80% of all 
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are covered 

by the 

country’s 
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insurance at 

public 

hospitals 

- Medical 

device 

market at 

USD300 

million  

- Population 

93 million 

- Rapid 

expansion 

of private 

healthcare 

- Medical 

device 

market at 

USD630 

million  
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4.3 Diabetes – Malaysia 

 

In 2019, 3.6 million Malaysians were suffering from diabetes, the highest rate on incidence in Asia 

and one of the highest in the world. By 2025, 7 million Malaysians will likely have diabetes i.e. 31.3% 

of adults aged 18 years old and above. It is becoming a major economic burden on the healthcare 

system and national economy.  

 

According to the National Health and Morbidity Survey (NHMS) 2019 by the Ministry of Health 

(MOH), the prevalence rate of diabetes in adults has increased in Malaysia from 13.4 per cent in 2015 

to 18.3 per cent in 2019, with diabetes defined as having sugar levels 7.0 mmol/L or above. 

 

An MOH official who presented the findings said NHMS 2019 had used a different blood sugar level 

to define diabetes compared to the NHMS 2015, which found 17.5 per cent diabetes prevalence in 

adults, to follow international standards. 

 

An estimated 3.9 million adults in Malaysia aged 18 and above had diabetes as of last year, higher 

than 3.5 million in 2015. The NHMS 2019 survey found that 49 per cent of people with diabetes had 

never been examined or diagnosed with the chronic disease. 

 

According to MOH, in 2019, 3.6 million Malaysians were suffering from diabetes, the highest rate 

on incidence in Asia and one of the highest in the world. By 2025, 7 million Malaysians will likely 

have diabetes ie 31.3% of adults aged 18 years old and above. It is becoming a major economic 

burden on the healthcare system and national economy. 

 

  

https://codeblue.galencentre.org/2019/03/14/doctor-moots-tax-on-white-rice-fast-food-to-fight-diabetes/
https://codeblue.galencentre.org/2019/03/14/doctor-moots-tax-on-white-rice-fast-food-to-fight-diabetes/


 

4.4 Medical Device Industry - Market Direction 

 

The medical device industry landscape is currently changing and rapidly moving towards: 

 

 

 

4.5 Medical Device Industry - Global 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Source: 2016 ITA Medical Devices Top Markets Report 

 

 

Environmental Friendly Devices – ie reducing consumables

Home Care Devices

Lifestyle / Aesthetics

Artificial Intelligence (AI) Based Technologies

Wearables

Internet of Things (IoT)

Big Data

Medical Devices Industry  

Value of total exports 

based on North American Industry Classification System (NAICS) 

3% Dental equipment & supplies 

Includes dental hand instruments, 

drills, sterilizers, dental chairs, 

plaster, amalgams, cements 

29% Surgical & medical 

instruments 

Includes anesthesia apparatus, 

orthopedic instruments, optical 

diagnostic apparatus, blood 

transfusion devices, syringes, 

hypodermic needles, catheters 

22% Surgical appliances & supplies 

Includes artificial joints and limbs, stents, 

orthopedic appliances, surgical dressings, 

disposable surgical drapes, hydrotherapy 

appliances, surgical kits, rubber medical and 

surgical gloves, wheelchairs 

6% Ophthalmic goods 

Includes eyeglass frames, lenses, related optical 

and magnification products 

8% Irradiation apparatus 

Includes X-ray devices, diagnostics 

imaging equipment, computed 

tomography equipment 

14% Electro-medical & electro-

therapeutic apparatus 

Includes pacemakers, patient-

monitoring systems, MRI machines, 

diagnostics imaging equipment, 

ultrasonic scanning devices.  

17% In-vitro diagnostic substances 

Includes chemical, biological, or 

radioactive substances 
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Proliferation of diagnostic equipment and systems, coupled with rising incidences of chronic diseases, 

is expected to drive the global adoption of medical power supply devices to USD1.6 billion by 2022 

with a CAGR of 4.5%.  

 

Global Medical Device Market (USD Billion) Forecast By Application 

From 2018 To 2023 

 
 

Source: Machine Design, Analysts Say Medical Devices Are on The Rise, July 2020 

 

Forecasted CAGR in the medical device sector of 5% globally over the period from 2018 through 

2022. The US market currently dominates healthcare spending with a market share of nearly 45%; 

followed by Europe, the Middle East, and Africa (EMEA); and the Asia-Pacific region APAC).  

 

Growth in the Asia-Pacific region will be highest over the forecast period, followed by EMEA, 

making them good targets for medical device innovators. By the end of the forecast period, healthcare 

spending in emerging markets will account for 30% of overall spending.  

 

Apart from increasing market penetration in emerging countries, the increasing initiatives and 

awareness by public and private organizations, technological advances and new product launches 

will boost the growth of the global medical devices market during the forecast period. The market is 

expected to witness a CAGR of 6.2%, during the forecast period, owing to the well-developed 

healthcare infrastructure, the significant presence of multinational medical device companies, and 

well-planned reimbursement policies, among others. 

 

Market drivers include an established healthcare infrastructure, strong medical device multinationals 

and well-organized reimbursement policies. APAC is expected to lead growth, driven by rising R&D 

expenditures by governments and private-sector healthcare companies. 

In addition to the drivers identified above, the analyst points to increased spending by providers. The 

future of the global medical device market looks good, with opportunities in public and private 

hospitals. Factors for device manufacturers to keep in mind include a focus on smaller devices and 

patient-portable devices, the use of software as a differentiator and the importance of innovation. 

 

Consumables can be a concern to medical care cost, as medical equipment carries a higher price tag 

but has fewer entry points for products that have already saturated the market. The exception is 

innovative devices, whether they perform an existing treatment more effectively or whether they 

offer something entirely new. As the market expands it will be increasingly important to take 

responsibility for the motion part of a system to help innovators get their products to market quickly.  

 

Surgical and Infection Control 
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General Medical Devices 

 

Cardiovascular Devices 

Orthopedic Devices 

 

Home Healthcare Devices 

 

Other Devices 
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Global Glucose Monitoring System Market Forecast 

From 2018 To 2026 

 
 

Source: InkwoodResearch, Global Glucose Monitoring System Market Forecast 2019-2028 

 

 

The global blood glucose monitoring (BGM) market was valued at approximately USD 12.23 billion 

in 2017 and is expected to generate around USD 18.87 billion in revenue by the end of 2024, growing 

at a CAGR of approximately 5.6% between 2018 and 2024. In 2017, Asia Pacific held the largest 

share in the BGM market due to the large patient pool and wide acceptance of advanced technologies. 

 

The global glucose monitoring system market is bifurcated into self-monitoring of blood glucose 

(SMBG) market and continuous glucose monitoring system market (CGMS). The SMBG market is 

anticipated to grow to USD23.4 billion by 2028 at a CAGR of 5.22% between 2019 and 2028, 

whereas the CGMS market is anticipated to grow to USD8.6 billion by 2028, at a CAGR of 22.31% 

between 2019 and 2028. Traditionally, CGMS faced competition from finger-based SMBG devices, 

which are cheaper, easy-to-use, and easily approved by the authorities. 
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The important drivers increasing growth in the global glucose monitoring system market are the rise 

in the incidence of diabetes and increasing CGMS and SMBG affordability. SMBG is relatively 

inexpensive, easy, provides an accurate measure of capillary glucose concentrations, and the 

available glucose meters can offer features including memory, downloading software, no coding 

strips, and small blood sample requirements. 

 

In 2019, the sensors category was the dominating category in CGMS by component type segment, 

contributing 68.59% of the market share, and the transmitter and receivers category is anticipated to 

be the fastest-growing component type, registering a CAGR of 26.01% by the end of the forecast 

period. The sensors can provide signals to display the real-time glucose levels of the patients. 

Transmitters and receivers are sold as standalone systems as well as single units. 

 

Also, in 2019, around 78.15% of the revenue share was captured by the test strips category in terms 

of SMBG by component type, and the lancets category is anticipated to grow at a faster rate during 

the forecast period. The lancet is a blood sampling device to be used only once, and then disposed of 

in a safe way. 

 

Lack of awareness of the diagnostic opportunities and inaccuracy in the reading of GMS devices are 

the major factors hindering the glucose monitoring system market growth. Since there is no easy way 

to assess the education materials / training courses for patients as well as diabetologists, it is difficult 

to put together comprehensive advice for therapeutic optimization. This leads to a lack of awareness 

of the diagnostic opportunities provided by CGMS, in turn, impacting the overall growth of the 

CGMS market. Meter calibration, variables in test strips, environmental conditions, improper meter 

maintenance, and user error in coding, are other major factors leading to inaccuracy in readings. 

 

In 2019, the North America region dominated the CGMS and SMBG market with a revenue share of 

approx. 61.15% and 39.51%, respectively, and the Asia Pacific region is anticipated to be the fastest-

growing region. The glucose monitoring system market in North America is witnessing significant 

growth, primarily because of the growing prevalence of obesity as well as diabetes. This has raised 

the demand for GMS devices and services in the region. 

 

Furthermore, in the past two decades, China has become one of the most powerful economies in the 

world and is currently the biggest consumer market in the world. China is one of the biggest 

prospective markets for the business of medical devices, and CGMS has substantial growth possible 

in China. 
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5 RISK FACTORS  

 

5.1 Summary of Key Risks 

 

The key risks of an investment in Glucosenz are set out in this section, below is an overview of 

potential risks: 

 

Company Specific Risks 

 

▪ Competition 

▪ Key personnel risk 

▪ Staffing 

▪ Loss of a key clients 

▪ Licensing and accreditations 

▪ Company’s brand and reputation 

▪ Scale up risk 

▪ Financing 

▪ Legal proceedings 

▪ Operational risks 

▪ Economic risks 

Sector / Market  

Specific Risks 

 

▪ Aging 

demographics 

▪ Advanced medical 

device technology 

 

Investment Risks 

 

▪ Taxation changes 

▪ Illiquid stock 

 

 

5.2 Introduction 

 

This Section identifies some, but not all, of the risks which the Board believes to be associated with 

an investment in the Company. 

 

This is not an exhaustive list of the risks associated with an investment in the Company and should 

be considered in conjunction with other information disclosed in this Information Memorandum. You 

should consider the risk factors described below, together with information contained elsewhere in 

this Information Memorandum, before deciding whether or not to invest in our ordinary shares. 

 

The Company makes no guarantees or warranties in respect to the operating or financial performance, 

dividends, value of the shares, or capital return upon Private Placement.  

 

Before deciding whether to invest in Glucosenz, you should: 

▪ Read this Information Memorandum in its entirety; 

▪ Consider the assumptions underlying the Directors’ statements and the risk factors that could 

affect the operational and financial performance of Glucosenz; 

▪ Consider an investment in Glucosenz in light of your own personal circumstances; and 

▪ Seek professional advice. 
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5.3 Company Specific Risks  

 

Competition 

The Company’s current and future potential competitors include companies with substantially greater 

resources. The Company may not be able to compete successfully against current or future 

competitors where aggressive pricing policies are employed to capture market shares. Such 

competition could result in price reductions, reduced growth margins and loss of market share, any 

of which could materially and adversely affect the Company’s growth prospects, operating results 

and financial performance.  

 

Key personnel risk 

The Company currently relies on a number of key personnel to conduct its business and execute its 

strategy. If key personnel were to leave the business or for other reasons could not perform their 

duties, and there was an inability to recruit suitable replacements in a timely manner, this could 

adversely impact the Company’s ability to grow or maintain its clients. As a result, the Company’s 

revenue, profits and prospects could be adversely affected. 

 

Staffing  

The Company’s ability to service its clients relies on its ability to attract and retain quality 

experienced staff. The Company’s ability to do this may be constrained by a number of factors from 

time to time, such as the Company’s ability to maintain an attractive working environment, match 

competitors pay scales or source quality graduates. As a result, the Company’s ability to service 

clients and grow its businesses may be constrained, or it may suffer increased costs to deliver the 

same level of output, each of which can adversely impact the Company’s profitability. 

 

Licences and accreditations 

The Company requires licenses and accreditations from various regulatory bodies to operate their 

businesses. If the Company is unable to obtain and / or renew these licenses and accreditations, there 

may be a material adverse effect on Glucosenz’s operating and financial performance. 

 

Company’s brand and reputation  

The success of the Company is reliant on its reputation and branding. The Company’s inability to 

address adverse publicity or other issues including concerns about service quality, efficacy or similar 

matters, real or perceived, could negatively impact sentiments towards the Company and its services 

and brand. Due to the multidisciplinary approach of the Company, there could be a multiplier effect 

of an issue in one part of the business affecting clients who work with other parts of the business. 

These risks may result in adverse impacts to the Company’s operating and financial performance. 

 

Scale up risk 

The Company is a small and growing company seeking to expand its operations. If the Company 

cannot build strong internal systems, it is likely that it will not be able to adequately respond to 

opportunities to grow and increase revenues. As a result, the future growth and financial performance 

of the Company may be adversely impacted. 
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Financing  

Future financing may be required by the Company to support proposed development plans. There 

can be no assurance that such funding will be available on satisfactory terms or at all. Inability to 

obtain funding could adversely affect the Company.  

 

Legal proceedings 

Legal proceedings may arise from time to time in the course of the business of the Company. As at 

the date of this Information Memorandum, there are no material legal proceedings affecting the 

Company and the Directors are not aware of any legal proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting the Company. 

 

Operational risks  

The Company faces risks arising from their operations including the risk of loss resulting from 

inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems or from external events which may 

impact on the Company’s operations. These risks include the risk of fraud, processing errors, systems 

failure and failure of security and physical protection systems. 

 

Fraud could arise from the misappropriation of the cash assets of a particular business or the 

misappropriation of client cheques (such as tax refunds). This could give rise to the loss of assets and 

would have the potential to damage the reputation of that business and could cause loss if not covered 

by insurance. Fire or theft of client files has the potential to cause significant disruption to the 

Company’s business.  

 

Economic risks  

Changes in world economic conditions may adversely affect the financial performance of the 

Company. Factors such as inflation, currency fluctuations, interest rates, industrial disruption and 

economic growth may impact on future operations and earnings.  

 

5.4 Sector / Market Specific Risks 

 

Aging demographics 

Global populations getting older is the single most important key trend in healthcare. An average 

of 10,000 baby boomers in the U.S. reach age 65 every day, according to AARP. But the populations 

of other countries are aging, too, including many nations in Europe and Asia.  

 

Aging demographics driving demand for healthcare could boost revenue for companies throughout 

the healthcare industry. However, it is also likely to spur renewed efforts to put downward pressure 

on rising healthcare costs, so people can afford the care they require. Pricing pressure benefit 

companies that offer products and services that help contain or reduce overall healthcare costs, but 

changes in drug pricing policies could negatively impact companies with high-priced healthcare 

products and services. 

 

Advanced medical device technology 

Tremendous progress continues to be made in developing medical devices using advanced 

technology. Some of these devices are used by healthcare professionals to treat patients, while other 

devices are worn by patients (like Continous Glucose Monitors or CGMs) or operate inside patients 

(like artificial heart pumps and artificial heart valves). 

 

One example of advanced medical device technology used by healthcare professionals to treat 

patients is a robotic surgical system, which enables surgeons to precisely control surgical instruments 

mounted on a robotic arm.  

 

https://www.fool.com/retirement/2017/07/29/9-baby-boomer-statistics-that-will-blow-you-away.aspx


  

Page | 38  

 

5.5 Investment Risks 

 

Taxation changes  

Any changes to the current rate of the Company’s income tax in Malaysia or abroad may affect 

Shareholders’ returns. Any changes to relevant tax laws, the way they are interpreted and applied, or 

to the current rate of taxes, could have an adverse effect on the Company’s operating and financial 

performance. In addition, any change in tax rules and tax arrangements could also have an adverse 

effect on the level of dividend imputation or franking and shareholder returns. 

 

Illiquid stock 

The ability of a Shareholder to realize value for their investment in the Company depends on the 

ability to sell Shares. Sales of Shares may be hampered if the market is illiquid. 

 

 

 

(The rest of this page has been intentionally left blank) 
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6 DIRECTORS  

 

  Age Nationality Designation 

Dr Hyzan Bin Mohd Yusof 55 Malaysian Director 

Wan Anisah Binti Wan Shamsuddin 50 Malaysian Director 

Zulkifli Bin Haji Ahmad 42 Malaysian Director 

Loh Lim Hock 54 Malaysian Director 

 

 

6.1 Dr Hyzan Yusof 

 

Present Appointment 

 Chief Executive Officer, OSA Technology Sdn Bhd 

 Consultant & Surgeon of Orthopaedic, Sunway Medical Centre 

 Vice Chairman of Medical Technology Industry Group Federation of Malaysian 

Manufacturers (FMM) 

 Advisor, Akademi Sains Malaysia for Industry of Medical Device Industry 

 Advisor, Ministry of Health (MOH) on Medical Device Industry 

 Reviewer, Malaysian Orthopaedic Journal 2008 till present 

 

Past Appointments 

 Associate Professor of Orthopaedics Department, Hospital Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia 

(HUKM) 

 Consultant of Orthopaedic & Traumatology, HUKM 

 Coordinator of Trauma Unit, HUKM 

 Head of Sport Injury Unit, HUKM 

 Lecturer, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia (UKM) 

 Honorary Secretary of Malaysian Orthopaedic Association 

 Exco member of Malaysia Relief Agency 

 

Academic Qualifications 

 Master of Surgery (Orthopaedic) – UKM 

 Medical Doctor – UKM 

 Sub-specialty course on Trauma – University of Albama, Birmingham, United States 

 

Local & International Achievement 

 Steering Committee Member for AO International representing Malaysia 

 Scientific Chairman for Asean Orthopaedic Congress 2003 

 American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons (AAOS) Scholarship Award 2005 

 Most Outstanding Malaysian of The Year 2005 

 AAOS nominee for Humanitarian Award 2007 

 Quality Award for the Best Innovation for the External Fixator System 

 The Outstanding Young Malaysian Award 

 Humanitarian and relief works in various countries such as Pakistan, Afghanistan, Cambodia, 

Lebanon, Acheh, Indonesia, Syria and more 
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6.2 Wan Anisah Shamsuddin     

 

Present Appointment 

 General Manager, Finance and Administration at OSA Technology Sdn Bhd 

 

Areas of Responsibilities 

 Overall Financial Management 

 Planning and Budgeting 

 Project Management 

 General Administration 

 

6.3 Zulkifli Ahmad 

 

Present Appointment 

 General Manager, Operations at OSA Technology Sdn Bhd 

 

Areas of Responsibilities 

 Overall Operations of the Company 

 Technical and Manufacturing Expertise 

 Business Development 

 

6.4 Loh Lim Hock 

 

Present Appointment 

 Executive Director of Arris Group Of Companies 

 Director, Chembond Chemicals (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd. 

 Director, Arris Consulting Sdn. Bhd. 

 Director, Arris Project Advisory Sdn. Bhd. 

 Technical Director, Arris Venture Sdn. Bhd. 

 Technical Director, Arris Venture Management Sdn. Bhd. 

 

Past Appointments 

 Strategic Key Account Manager, Hartmann Malaysia Sdn. Bhd. 

 Research Assistant, Universiti Sains Malaysia (Penang) 

 

Academic Qualifications 

- European Master of Business Administration (EMBA), Paris Graduate School of 

Management 

- Diploma In Management, Malaysian Institute of Management.  

- Diploma in Technology (Electronic Engineering), Tunku Abdul Rahman College, Malaysia 
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7 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 

The non-listed entities should consider applying the practices in the Malaysian Code on Corporate 

Governance (“MCCG”) to enhance their accountability, transparency and sustainability. 

 

The MCCG is based on three key principles of good corporate governance, which are–  

 

Principle A: Board leadership and effectiveness;  

Principle B: Effective audit and risk management; and  

Principle C: Integrity in corporate reporting and meaningful relationship with stakeholders. 

 

7.1  Principle A: Board Leadership And Effectiveness 

 

Board Responsibilities 

 

(a) Every company is headed by a board, which assumes responsibility for the company’s 

leadership and is collectively responsible for meeting the objectives and goals of the company. 

 

The board should set the company’s strategic aims, ensure that the necessary resources are in 

place for the company to meet its objectives and review management performance. The board 

should set the company’s values and standards and ensure that its obligations to its 

shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met. A Chairman of the board who is 

responsible for instilling good corporate governance practices, leadership and effectiveness 

of the board is appointed. The positions of Chairman and CEO are held by different 

individuals.  

 

The board is supported by a suitably qualified and competent Company Secretary to provide 

sound governance advice, ensure adherence to rules and procedures, and advocate adoption 

of corporate governance best practices. Directors receive meeting materials, which are 

complete and accurate within a reasonable period prior to the meeting. Upon conclusion of 

the meeting, the minutes are circulated in a timely manner. 

 

(b) There is demarcation of responsibilities between the board, board committees and 

management. There is clarity in the authority of the board, its committees, and individual 

directors. 

 

The board has a board charter which is periodically reviewed and published on the company’s 

website. The board charter clearly identifies: 

▪ the respective roles and responsibilities of the board, board committees, individual 

directors, and management; and  

▪ issues and decisions reserved for the board. 
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(c) The board is committed to promoting good business conduct and maintaining a healthy 

corporate culture that engenders integrity, transparency, and fairness. The board, management, 

employees and other stakeholders are clear on what is considered acceptable behaviour and 

practice in the company. 

 

The board establishes a Code of Conduct and Ethics for the company, and together with 

management implements its policies and procedures, which include managing conflicts of 

interest, preventing the abuse of power, corruption, insider trading and money laundering. 

The Code of Conduct and Ethics is published on the company’s website. The board 

establishes, reviews and together with management implements policies and procedures on 

whistleblowing. 

 

Board Composition 

 

(a) Board decisions are made objectively in the best interests of the company taking into account 

diverse perspectives and insights. 

 

At least half of the board comprises independent directors. For Large Companies, the board 

comprises a majority independent director. The tenure of an independent director does not 

exceed a cumulative term limit of nine years. Upon completion of the nine years, an 

independent director may continue to serve on the board as a non-independent director. If the 

board intends to retain an independent director beyond nine years, it should justify and seek 

annual shareholders’ approval. If the board continues to retain the independent director after 

the twelfth year, the board should seek annual shareholders’ approval through a two-tier 

voting process. Appointment of board and senior management are based on objective criteria, 

merit and with due regard for diversity in skills, experience, age, cultural background and 

gender. The board discloses in its annual report the company’s policies on gender diversity, 

its targets and measures to meet those targets. For Large Companies, the board must have at 

least 30% women directors. In identifying candidates for appointment of directors, the board 

does not solely rely on recommendations from existing board members, management or major 

shareholders. The board utilises independent sources to identify suitably qualified candidates. 

The Nominating Committee is chaired by an Independent Director or the Senior Independent 

Director. 

 

(b) Stakeholders are able to form an opinion on the overall effectiveness of the board and 

individual directors.  

 

The board should undertake a formal and objective annual evaluation to determine the 

effectiveness of the board, its committees and each individual director. The board should 

disclose how the assessment was carried out and its outcome. For Large Companies, the board 

engages independent experts periodically to facilitate objective and candid board evaluations. 
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Remuneration 

 

(a) The level and composition of remuneration of directors and senior management take into 

account the company’s desire to attract and retain the right talent in the board and senior 

management to drive the company’s long-term objectives. Remuneration policies and 

decisions are made through a transparent and independent process.  

 

The board has in place policies and procedures to determine the remuneration of directors and 

senior management, which takes into account the demands, complexities and performance of 

the company as well as skills and experience required. The policies and procedures are 

periodically reviewed and made available on the company’s website. The board has a 

Remuneration Committee to implement its policies and procedures on remuneration 

including reviewing and recommending matters relating to the remuneration of board and 

senior management. The Committee has written Terms of Reference which deals with its 

authority and duties and these Terms are disclosed on the company’s website. 

 

(b) Stakeholders are able to assess whether the remuneration of directors and senior management 

is commensurate with their individual performance, taking into consideration the company’s 

performance. 

 

There is detailed disclosure on named basis for the remuneration of individual directors. The 

remuneration breakdown of individual directors includes fees, salary, bonus, benefits in-kind 

and other emoluments. The board discloses on a named basis the top five senior 

management’s remuneration component including salary, bonus, benefits in-kind and other 

emoluments in bands of MYR 50,000. 

 

7.2 Principle B: Effective Audit And Risk Management 

 

Audit Committee 

 

There is an effective and independent Audit Committee. The board is able to objectively review the 

Audit Committee’s findings and recommendations. The company’s financial statement is a reliable 

source of information. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is not the Chairman of the board. The 

Audit Committee has a policy that requires a former key audit partner to observe a cooling-off period 

of at least two years before being appointed as a member of the Audit Committee. The Audit 

Committee has policies and procedures to assess the suitability, objectivity and independence of the 

external auditor. The Audit Committee should comprise solely of Independent Directors. Collectively, 

the Audit Committee should possess a wide range of necessary skills to discharge its duties. All 

members should be financially literate and are able to understand matters under the purview of the 

Audit Committee including the financial reporting process. All members of the Audit Committee 

should undertake continuous professional development to keep themselves abreast of relevant 

developments in accounting and auditing standards, practices and rules. 
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Risk Management and Internal Control Framework 

 

(a) Companies make informed decisions about the level of risk they want to take and implement 

necessary controls to pursue their objectives. The board is provided with reasonable assurance 

that adverse impact arising from a foreseeable future event or situation on the company’s 

objectives is mitigated and managed. The board should establish an effective risk 

management and internal control framework. The board should disclose the features of its 

risk management and internal control framework, and the adequacy and effectiveness of this 

framework. The board establishes a Risk Management Committee, which comprises a 

majority of independent directors, to oversee the company’s risk management framework and 

policies  

 

(b) Companies have an effective governance; risk management and internal control framework 

and stakeholders are able to assess the effectiveness of such a framework. The Audit 

Committee should ensure that the internal audit function is effective and able to function 

independently. The board should disclose: 

▪ whether internal audit personnel are free from any relationships or conflicts of interest, 

which could impair their objectivity and independence;  

▪ the number of resources in the internal audit department;  

▪ name and qualification of the person responsible for internal audit; and  

▪ whether the internal audit function is carried out in accordance with a recognized 

framework. 

 

7.3 Principle C: Integrity In Corporate Reporting And Meaningful Relationship With 

Stakeholders 

 

Communication with Stakeholders 

 

There is continuous communication between the company and stakeholders to facilitate mutual 

understanding of each other’s objectives and expectations. Stakeholders are able to make informed 

decisions with respect to the business of the company, its policies on governance, the environment 

and social responsibility. The board ensures there is effective, transparent and regular communication 

with its stakeholders.  

 

Conduct of General Meetings 

 

Shareholders are able to participate, engage the board and senior management effectively and make 

informed voting decisions at General Meetings. Notice for an Annual General Meeting should be 

given to the shareholders at least 28 days prior to the meeting. All directors attend General Meetings. 

The Chair of the Audit, Nominating, Risk Management and other committees provide meaningful 

response to questions addressed to them. Listed companies with a large number of shareholders or 

which have meetings in remote locations should leverage technology to facilitate voting including 

voting in absentia and remote shareholders’ participation at General Meetings. 
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8 HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

 

8.1 Management’s Discussion And Analysis Of Financial Condition And Results Of 

Operations 

  

Prospective investors should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition 

and results of operations together with our financial statements and the related notes and other 

financial information included elsewhere in this prospectus. Some of the information contained in 

this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this prospectus, including information with 

respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, includes forward-looking 

statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should review the “Risk Factors” section of this 

prospectus for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 

from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following 

discussion and analysis. 

 

Overview 

  

We are a pre-commercialisation stage medical device company focused on the commercialization, 

and further design and development of non-invasive glucose monitoring devices for use by persons 

suffering from diabetes.  

 

Results of Operations 

 

The following discussion explains material changes in our results of operations for the five months 

since incorporation. The discussion should be read in conjunction with the section entitled 

“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the 

financial statements and related notes included in the Information Memorandum. 

 

1 Month Operation Since Incorporation 

  

Revenues 

  

We had no revenue during the 1 month as we have yet to commercialize the Glucosenz device. 

  

Research and Development Expenses 

  

Axuda Berhad has injected intangible assets at a consideration of MYR 8,000,000 into the Company. 

 

General and Administrative Expenses 

  

General and administrative expenses were MYR 8,000 for the 1-month period. General and 

administrative expenses consist primarily of incorporation expenses and website development 

expenses.  

  

Net Loss 

 

Net loss was MYR 8,000 for the 1 month ended 31 August 2020. 
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PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFOMATION 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020 

 

 Note 2020 

  MYR 

   

Assets   

Non-current assets   

Intangible Assets 5 8,000,000 

Total non-current assets  8,000,000 

   

Current assets   

Cash equivalents 6 100 

Total assets  8,000,100 

   

Equity and liabilities   

Capital and reserves   

Contributed share capital 7 8,000,100 

Accumulated losses  (8,000) 

Total equity  7,992,100 

   

Current liabilities   

Other payables  8,000 

Total equity and liabilities  8,000,100 
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PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFOMATION 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 11 AUGUST 2020 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) 

TO 31 AUGUST 2020 

 

   

 Note 2020 

  MYR 

   

Continuing operations   

Revenue  - 

Cost of sales  - 

Gross profit  - 

Administration expenses  (8,000) 

Selling and distribution expenses  - 

Other operating expenses  - 

Loss before taxation 8 (8,000) 

Income tax expense 9 - 

Total comprehensive loss for the financial period  (8,000) 
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PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFOMATION 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 11 AUGUST 2020 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) 

TO 31 AUGUST 2020 

 

  Attributable to Owners of the Company 

  

Contributed 

share capital  

Accumulated 

losses  Total 

  MYR  MYR  MYR 

       

As at 11 August 2020  100  -  100 

(Date of incorporation)       

       

Issuance of share capital 8,000,000  -  8,000,000 

Total comprehensive loss  

for the financial period -  (8,000)  (8,000) 

As at 31 August 2020  8,000,100  (8,000)  7,992,100 
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PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFOMATION 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE FINANCIAL PERIOD FROM 11 AUGUST 2020 (DATE OF INCORPORATION) 

TO 31 AUGUST 2020 

 

 Note 2020 

  MYR 

   

Cash flows from operating activities   

Loss before taxation  (8,000) 

Operating loss before working capital changes  (8,000) 

Increase in payables  8,000 

Net cash used in operating activities  0 

   

Cash flows from investing activities   

Addition of intangible assets  (8,000,000) 

Net cash used in investing activities  (8,000,000) 

   

Cash flows from financing activities   

Issuance of share capital  8,000,100 

Net cash generated from financing activities  8,000,100 

   

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  100 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial period 6 100 

 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020 

 

 

1. COMPLIANCE WITH FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS AND THE 

COMPANIES ACT 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in compliance with Malaysian Private Entities 

Reporting Standard (MPERS) issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (MASB) 

and the provisions of the Malaysian Companies Act, 2016. 

 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared using cost and fair value bases.  

 

Management has used estimates and assumptions in measuring the reported amounts of assets 

and liabilities at the end of the reporting period and the reported amounts of revenues and 

expenses during the reporting period. Judgements and assumptions are applied in the 

measurement, and hence, the actual results may not coincide with the reported amount. The 

areas involving significant judgements and estimation uncertainties are disclosed in Note 4. 

 

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

(a) Intangible assets 

Expenditure incurred on research activities and internally generated goodwill is 

recognised in profit or loss as and when it is incurred. 

An internally generated intangible asset is recognised only if the item is identifiable, and 

it is probable that the expected future economic benefits will flow to the entity, and the 

cost can be measured reliably. 

Other intangible assets with finite useful lives are stated at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. Other intangible assets are 

amortised on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 Useful life 

Intellectual property 5 years 

  

(b) Cash equivalents 

 

Cash equivalents consist of bank balance which have an insignificant risk of changes in 

fair value with original maturities of three months or less and used by the Company in 

the management of their short-term commitments. 

 

(c) Liabilities 

 

Payables are stated at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the 

future for goods and services received. 

 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(d) Contributed share capital 

 

When ordinary shares and other equity instruments are issued as consideration 

transferred in a business combination or as settlement of an existing financial liability, 

they are measured at their fair value at the date of the exchange transaction. 

 

(e) Provisions 

 

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obligation, legal or constructive, as a 

result of past event, when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount 

can be made. 

 

A provision is measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required 

to settle the obligation using a discount rate that reflects the time value of money and the 

risk that the actual outcome might differ from the estimate made. The unwinding of the 

discount is recognised as an interest expense.  

 

(f) Tax assets and tax liabilities 

 

A current tax for current and prior periods, to the extent unpaid, is recognised as a current 

tax liability. If the amount already paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds 

the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as a current tax asset. A current 

tax liability (asset) is measured at the amount the Company expects to pay (recover) using 

tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date.  

 

(g) Financial instruments 

 

(i) Initial recognition and measurement 

 

A financial asset or financial liability is recognised in the statement of financial 

position when, and only when, the Company becomes a party to the contractual 

provisions of the instrument. 

 

A financial instrument is recognised initially at the transaction price (including 

transaction costs except in the initial measurement of a financial asset or financial 

liability that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss) unless 

the arrangement constitutes, in effect, a financing transaction for either the 

Company (for a financial liability) or the counterparty (for a financial asset) to the 

arrangement. If the arrangement constitutes a financing transaction, the financial 

asset or financial liability is measured at the present value of the future payments 

discounted at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument as determined 

at initial recognition. 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(g) Financial instruments (Continued) 

 

(ii) Subsequent measurement 

 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method: 

 

(a) returns to the holder are determinable, e.g. a fixed amount and / or variable rate 

of return benchmark against a quoted or observable interest rate; 

(b) there is no contractual provision that could result in the holder losing the 

principal amount or any interest attributable to the current or prior periods; and 

(c) prepayment option, if any, is not contingent on future events. 

 

Debt instruments that are classified as current assets or current liabilities are 

measured at the undiscounted amount of the cash or other consideration expected 

to be paid or received unless the arrangement constitutes, in effect, a financing 

transaction. 

 

All financial assets (except for financial assets measured at fair value through profit 

or loss) are assessed at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence 

of impairment. An impairment loss is measured as follows: 

 

(a) For an instrument measured at amortised cost, the impairment loss is the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 

estimated cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 

(b) For an instrument measured at cost less impairment, the impairment loss is the 

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the best estimate of the 

amount that would be received for the asset if it were to be sold at the reporting 

date. 

 

All other financial assets or financial liabilities not measured at amortised cost or 

cost less impairment are measured at fair value with changes recognised in profit 

or loss. 

  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020 
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

 

(g) Financial instruments (Continued) 

 

(iii)    Derecognition 

 

A financial asset or part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the contractual 

rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or are settled, or control of 

the asset is not retained or substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership 

of the financial asset are transferred to another party. On derecognition of a 

financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial asset 

derecognised and the consideration received, including any newly created rights 

and obligations, is recognised in profit or loss. A financial liability or part of it is 

derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the contract is 

discharged, cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the 

difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or 

transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash 

assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

 

(a) Determining the value-in-use 

 

In determining the value-in-use of a stand-alone asset or a cash-generating unit, 

anagement uses reasonable and supportable inputs about sales, costs of sales and other 

expenses based upon past experiences, current events and reasonably possible future 

developments. Cash flows are projected based on those inputs and discounted at 

appropriate discount rates. The actual outcome or event may not coincide with the inputs 

or assumptions and the discount rate applied in the measurement, and this may have a 

significant effect on the Company’s financial position and results.  

 

(b) Loss allowances of financial assets 

 

The Company recognises impairment losses for loans and receivables using the incurred 

loss model. Individually significant loans and receivables are tested for impairment 

separately by estimating the cash flows expected to be recoverable. All other loans and 

receivables are categorised into credit risk classes and tested for impairment collectively, 

using the Company’s past experiences of loss statistics, ageing of past due amounts and 

current economic trends. The actual eventual losses may be different from the allowances 

made and these may affect the Company’s financial position and results. 

 

(c) Amortisation of research and development 

 

The cost of an item of research and development is amortised on the straight-line method 

or another systematic method that reflects the consumption of the economic benefits of 

the asset over its useful life. Estimates are applied in the selection of the amortisation 

method, the useful lives and the residual values. The actual consumption of the economic 

benefits of the research and development may differ from the estimates applied and this 

may lead to a gain or loss of research and development.  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
AS AT 31 AUGUST 2020 
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5. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

Intellectual 

property   

 2020  Total 

 MYR  MYR 

    

Cost    

At 11 August 2020 (Date of incorporation) -  - 

Addition 8,000,000  8,000,000 

At 31 August 2020 8,000,000  8,000,000 

    

Carrying amount 8,000,000  8,000,000 

 

 

6. CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

The company’s cash management policy is to use cash in hand to manage cash flows to ensure 

sufficient liquidity to meet the company’s obligations. The components of cash equivalents 

consist of: 

 

 2020 

 MYR 

  

Cash in bank 100 

 

 

7. CONTRIBUTED SHARE CAPITAL 

 2020  2020 

 No. 

of shares  

Monetary 

value 

MYR 

    

Issued and fully paid:    

At beginning of the financial period  

11 August 2020 (Date of incorporation) 100   100 

Issuance of ordinary shares  8,000,000  8,000,000 

Balance at 31 August 2020 8,000,100  8,000,100 

 

Ordinary shares of the Company have no par value. The holder of ordinary shares is entitled 

to receive dividends as and when declared by the Company. All ordinary shares carry one 

vote per share without restrictions. 

  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 

Loss from operations before taxation has been arrived at: 

 11.8.2020 

 (Date of 

 incorporation) 

 to 31.8.2020 

 2020 

 MYR 

  

After charging:  

Incorporation fees 3,000 

 

The numbers of employees of the Company including Directors as at the end of the financial 

period are 4. 

 

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

 11.8.2020 

 (Date of 

 incorporation) 

 to 31.8.2020 

 2020 

 MYR 

   

Reconciliation of tax expense:  

Loss before taxation (8,000) 

  

Tax at the statutory income tax rate (1,360) 

Tax effects of expenses disallowed for tax purpose:  

   - Other expenses disallowed for tax purpose 1,360 

Tax expense - 

 

The current Malaysian tax rate is 17% for the first MYR 500,000 chargeable income and 

24% thereafter. There is no taxation benefit on the accumulated loss carried forward. 

 

10. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

 

Since this report is the first set of the financial statements of the company subsequent to its 

incorporation on 11 August 2020, no comparative figures are available. 
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9 MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

 

There are no contracts which are or may be material (not being contracts entered into the ordinary 

course of business) which have been entered by the Company preceding the date of this Information 

Memorandum. 

 

 

10 DETAILS OF PLACEMENT 

 

10.1 Details Of The Placement 

 

The placement of the Ordinary Shares shall comprise an offer by the Company of the following:  

 

Issuer Glucosenz Sdn Bhd 

Instrument Ordinary Shares 

Ordinary shares to be issued Up to 888,900 Ordinary Shares 

Issue Price MYR 45.00 per Ordinary Share 

Gross Proceeds MYR 40,000,000 or equivalent 

 

10.2 Utilization Of Proceeds 

 

The gross proceeds arising from the Proposed Placement of USD10 million shall be utilized for 

the following purposes: 

 

 
 

10.3 Summary Of Principal Terms And Conditions Of The Ordinary Shares 

 

The information set out in this section and the following information relating to the issue of 

the Ordinary Shares is qualified by, and to be read and construed as part of this Information 

Memorandum in conjunction with, the further detailed information appearing elsewhere in 

this Information Memorandum and in the Transaction Document. In this section, in the event 

of any inconsistency of defined terms as set out in "Definitions" and this "Summary of 

Principal Terms and Conditions of the Ordinary Shares", the terms as defined in this 

"Summary of Principal Terms and Conditions of the Ordinary Shares" shall prevail. 

  

CAPEX 

16%

Development Cost 

32%

Patent Acquisition 

17%

Working Capital & 

Expansion 

35%

Utilisation Over 5 Years
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Investment Size  Minimum investment of MYR 4 million per investor 

  
Issue price  The Ordinary Shares are to be issued at MYR 45.00 each 

  
Closing Date The closing of subscription of Ordinary Shares shall fall on 31 

December 2020 or when the Ordinary Shares is fully 

subscribed, whichever is earlier. 

  
Target Investors 

 

Targets participation from institutional and sophisticated 

investors 

 

Conditions precedent to 

Signing of the Investment 

Agreement 

 

The Investment is subject to: 

▪ approval from the Company’s Board of Directors 

▪ completion by the Issuer of satisfactory due diligence 

(following but not limited to Malaysia Money Laundering 

Regulations) on Investor 

▪ clearing of investments money by BNM 

 

Potential Exit 

 

An Exit may be carried out in various ways, including but not 

limited to: 

▪ an Initial Public Offering of the Company's shares 

(“IPO”) 

▪ a trade sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s 

shares (for cash or share consideration)  

 

 

10.4 Right And Liabilities Attaching To Shares 

 

The Company has only one (1) class of shares, namely ordinary shares. The Ordinary Shares will, 

upon allotment and issuance, rank pari-passu in all respects with our existing Shares, including voting 

rights and rights to all dividends and other distributions that may be declared subsequent to the date 

of allotment of the Ordinary Shares. 

 

Subject to any special rights attached to any shares which the Company may issue in the future, the 

shareholders shall, in proportion to the amount paid up on the Shares held by them, be entitled to 

share in the profits paid out by the Company as dividends and other distributions. Similarly, if the 

Company is liquidated, the shareholders shall be entitled to any surplus in accordance with the 

Company’s constitution.  

 

At any general meeting of the Company, each shareholder shall be entitled to vote in person or by 

proxy or by attorney or by duly authorised representative. Each shareholder shall be entitled to 

appoint one (1) or more proxy to attend and vote at any general meeting. A proxy may but need not 

be a member of the Company and there shall be no restriction as to the qualification of the proxy. On 

a poll, each shareholder present either in person or by proxy or by attorney or by other authorised 

representative shall have one (1) vote for each Share held. 

 

  



 

Page | 58  

 

11 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

 

This Information Memorandum includes, or may include, forward looking statements including, 

without limitation, forward looking statements regarding then Company’s financial position, 

business strategy, and plans and objectives for its business and future operations (including 

development plans and objectives), which have been based on the Company‘s current expectations. 

These forward-looking statements are, however, subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties 

and assumptions that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially 

from future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking 

statements. Such forward looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the 

Company’s present and future business strategies and environment in which the Company will 

operate in the future. 

 

Matters not yet known to the Company or not currently considered material to the Company may 

impact on these forward-looking statements. These statements reflect views held only as at the date 

of this Information Memorandum. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-

looking statements in this Information Memorandum might not occur. Investors are therefore 

cautioned not to place undue reliance on these statements. 

 

11.1 Privacy 

 

The Company collects information about each Applicant provided on an Application Form for the 

purposes of processing the Application and, if the Application is successful, to administer the 

Applicant’s shareholding in the Company. By submitting an Application Form, each Applicant 

agrees that the Company may use the information provided by an Applicant on the Application Form 

for the purposes set out in this privacy disclosure statement and may disclose it for those purposes to 

the Company’s related body corporates, agents, contractors and third-party service providers, 

including mailing houses and professional advisors, and regulatory authorities. 

 

11.2 Queries  

 

This Information Memorandum provides information for investors to decide if they wish to invest in 

the Company and should be read in its entirety. If you have any questions about investing in the 

Company, please contact your stockbroker, financial planner, accountant, lawyer, or other 

professional advisers. Any queries regarding the Offer should be directed to the Issuer on +603 

80763063. 
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12 TAXATION IMPLICATIONS FOR INVESTORS 

 

The information in this context is of a general nature only and cannot and does not address all of the 

tax issues which may be relevant to an investor. It is not legal, financial or tax advice. Malaysian 

taxation laws are complex and may change over time.  

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor should not treat the contents of this document as advice 

relating to legal, taxation, investment or any other matters. Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor 

should inform themselves as to: 

 

(a) the legal requirements within their own countries for the subscription, purchase, holding, 

transfer or other disposal of redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares; 

(b) any foreign exchange restrictions applicable to the subscription, purchase, holding, 

transfer or other disposal of redeemable convertible cumulative preference shares which 

they might encounter; and 

(c) the income and other tax consequences which may apply in their own countries as a 

result of the subscription, purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of redeemable 

convertible cumulative preference shares. 

 

Prospective Ordinary Shares Investor must rely upon their own representatives, including their 

own legal advisers and accountants, as to legal, tax, investment or any other related matters 

concerning the Company and an investment therein. Statements made in this document are based 

on the law and practice currently in force in Malaysia and are subject to changes therein. This 

document should be read in its entirety. All shareholders of the Company are entitled to the 

benefit of and are bound by and are deemed to have notice of, the provisions of the articles of 

association of the Company. 

 

13 DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY AND CONSENT 

 

The Directors state that they have made all reasonable enquiries and on that basis have reasonable 

grounds to believe that any statements made by the Directors in this Information Memorandum are 

not misleading or deceptive and that in respect to any other statements made in the Information 

Memorandum by persons other than Directors, the Directors have made reasonable enquiries and on 

that basis have reasonable grounds to believe that persons making the statement or statements were 

competent to make such statements, those persons have given their consent to the statements being 

included in this Information Memorandum in the form and context in which they are included and 

have not withdrawn that consent to the Directors knowledge, before any issue of the Shares pursuant 

to this Information Memorandum. 
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14 GLOSSARY 

 

The following terms in this Information Memorandum bear the same meaning as set out below 

unless the term is defined otherwise or the context requires otherwise: 

 

“AARP” 

 

: A United States-based interest group focusing 

on issues affecting the elderly. 

 

“Act” 

 

: Companies Act 2016 as amended from time 

to time and any re- enactment thereof. 

 

“AGM” 

 

: Annual General Meeting 

“AI” 

 

: Artificial Intelligence  

“APAC” 

 

: Asia-Pacific Region 

“APPL” 

 

: Approved Product Purchase List 

“ASEAN” 

 

: Association of Southeast Asian Nations 

“BGM” 

 

: Blood Glucose Monitoring 

“BNM” 

 

: Bank Negara Malaysia (The Central Bank of 

Malaysia) 

 

“Board of Directors” 

 

: The Board of Directors of the Company 

“Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad” : Bursa Malaysia is the frontline regulator 

of the Malaysian capital market and has 

the duty to maintain a fair and orderly 

market in the securities and derivatives 

that are traded through its facilities. 

 

“CAB” 

 

: Conformity Assessment Body 

“CAGR” 

 

: Compound Annual Growth Rate 

“CGM” 

 

: Continuous Glucose Monitoring  

“CGMS” 

 

: Continuous Glucose Monitoring System 

“CMSA” 

 

: Capital Markets and Services Act 2007 

"Company" or "Glucosenz" or 

"Issuer” 

 

: Glucosenz Sdn Bhd (Company No. 

202001022908 (1379228-U)). 

“CUCMS” : Cyberjaya University College of Medical 

Science 

 

“Director” : Any person occupying the position of a 

director of the Company. 



 

Page | 61  

 

 

“DS” : Dispensing Separation  

 

“DTV” : Design To Value  

 

“EEA” : European Economic Area  

 

“EMEA” : Europe, the Middle East, and Africa  

 

“EU” : European Union 

 

“European CE Marking 

Certification” 

: The letters 'CE' appear products traded on 

the extended Single Market in the European 

Economic Area (EEA). They signify that 

products sold in the EEA have been assessed 

to meet high safety, health, and 

environmental protection requirements. 

 

“GDP” : Gross Domestic Product is the monetary value 

of all finished goods and services made within 

a country during a specific period. 

 

“Glucosenz” : This refers to the blood glucose monitoring 

product either benchtop, wearable or portable 

device. 

 

“GMS” : Glucose Monitoring System 

 

“GMP” : Good Manufacturing Practice  

 

“HIP5” : High Impact Program 5  

 

“HUKM” : Hospital University Kebangsaan Malaysia  

 

 “IDF” 

 

: International Diabetes Federation 

“IDM” : Integrated Diabetes Management  

 

“IoT” : Internet of Things 

 

“IPO” : Initial Public Offering 

 

“ISO 13485” : It specifies requirements for a quality 

management system where an organization 

needs to demonstrate its ability to provide 

medical devices and related services that 

consistently meet customer and applicable 

regulatory requirements. 

 

“JAKIM” : Department of Islamic Development Malaysia 

is the agency responsible for the Islamic affairs 

including halal certification in Malaysia. 
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“LCD” : Liquid Crystal Display is a type of flat panel 

display which uses liquid crystals in its 

primary form of operation. 

 

“MASB” 

 

 Malaysian Accounting Standards Board 

“M&A” : Mergers and Acquisition 

 

“MCCG” : Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance  

 

“MDA” : Medical Device Authority  

 

“MeDVER” : Medical Device Establishment Registration  

 

“MIMOS” : Malaysia's national applied research and 

development centre under the purview of the 

Malaysian Ministry of International Trade and 

Industry 

 

“MIS” : Minimally Invasive Surgical instrument 

 

“MITI” : Ministry of Trade and Industry  

 

“MOF “ : Ministry of Finance 

 

“MOH” : Ministry of Health 

 

“MOSTI” : Ministry of Science, Technology And 

Innovation 

 

 “MPERS” 

 

: Malaysian Private Entities Reporting Standard 

“MYH” : Malaysian Year of Healthcare 

 

“MyIPO” : Intellectual Property Corporation of 

Malaysia 

 

“NADI” : The National Diabetes Institute of Malaysia 

 

“NGO” : Non-Governmental Organisation 

 

“NHMS” : National Health and Morbidity Survey 

 

“Ordinary Shares Holders" : In relation to the Ordinary Shares, the 

respective holders of the Ordinary Shares 

issued by the Company, evidenced by its 

certificate. 

 

" Ordinary Shares Investors" : The investors who subscribe for the 

Ordinary Shares. 
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“Ordinary Shares” : MYR 40,000,000.00 nominal value of 

Ordinary Shares certificates shall be issued 

by the Company pursuant to the Ordinary 

Shares Investors. 

 

 “OSA”  OSA Technology Sdn Bhd 

 

“R&D” : Research and Development 

 

“RoW” : Rest of the World  

 

“Securities Commission” : The Securities Commission Malaysia is a 

statutory body entrusted with the responsibility 

of regulating and systematically developing the 

capital markets in Malaysia. 

 

“SIRIM” : Formerly known as the Standard and Industrial 

Research Institute of Malaysia, is a corporate 

organisation owned wholly by the Malaysian 

Government, under the Minister of Finance 

Incorporated. 

 

“SMBG” : Self-Monitoring Of Blood Glucose 

 

“SMECorp” : Small Medium Enterprise Corporation 

 

“SOP” : Standard Operating Procedure 

 

“WHO” : World Health Organisation 

 

SpO2 : Measurement of oxygen saturation in the blood 

 

 

Word denoting the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa and 

words denoting the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and / or 

neuter genders and vice versa. 

 


